



# Assessing the relationship between unmet belongingness needs and maladaptive daydreaming

# Citation

Flickinger, Franciane. 2024. Assessing the relationship between unmet belongingness needs and maladaptive daydreaming. Master's thesis, Harvard University Division of Continuing Education.

# Permanent link

https://nrs.harvard.edu/URN-3:HUL.INSTREPOS:37379159

# Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

# **Share Your Story**

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

**Accessibility** 

Assessing the relationship between unmet belongingness needs and maladaptive daydreaming

Franciane C. Flickinger

A Thesis in the Field of Psychology

for the Degree of Master of Liberal Arts in Extension Studies

Harvard University

November 2024

Copyright 2024 Franciane Flickinger

Abstract

Maladaptive daydreaming (MD) is characterized by intense and immersive daydreaming that interferes with daily functioning and causes distress and dysfunction. Prior research has indicated that MD might serve as a coping mechanism for individuals with unmet social and emotional needs, yet its relationship with the need for belongingness has been underexplored. This study investigated the relationship between MD and belongingness, hypothesizing that individuals with MD exhibit lower levels of perceived belonging and higher need to belong, using fantasies and parasocial relationships to replace the social connections they crave but are not obtaining in real-life. The study recruited 217 participants from online forums discussing MD and related conditions. Findings revealed a significant negative correlation between MD and sense of belonging, suggesting that higher MD levels are associated with lower feelings of social integration and acceptance. Contrary to expectations, no linear relationship was found between MD and the need to belong. The study supports the notion that MD may function as a compensatory mechanism for unmet needs for belongingness. These findings suggest that therapeutic interventions aimed at addressing these unmet social needs could be key to effectively managing MD.

### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude for the indispensable support I received while working on this thesis and during my time at Harvard. I would like to thank Dr. Tracey Tokuhama-Espinosa and Danielle Batchelor for their fundamental support that inspired this research. I thank Dr. Steven Boomhower for giving me invaluable writing advice and inspiring me to strive for excellence, and Chuck Houston III for his exemplary hard work, integrity, and support throughout my academic journey. I also want to extend special gratitude to my research advisor, Dr. Adrienne Tierney, for her direction and advice. Foremost, I would like to wholeheartedly thank my thesis director, Dr. Kelsey Quigley, for her wonderful mentorship throughout the thesis process.

## Table of Contents

Acknowledgmentsiv
List of Tables vii
List of Figures
Chapter I. Introduction1
The History of Psychological Study of Daydreaming
Mind-Wandering Versus Daydreaming6
Adaptive Daydreaming7
Maladaptive Daydreaming11
Distinguishing Between Adaptive and Maladaptive Daydreaming13
Underlying Mechanisms of MD15
Developmental Pathways of MD20
Psychological Diagnoses Associated With MD21
Belongingness
MD as a Maladaptive Coping Strategy Following Thwarted Belongingness
Parasocial Relationships
Study Aims & Hypothesis
Chapter II. Methods
Participants
Procedures

Data Collection	
Measures	
The Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS-16)	
The Sense of Belonging Instrument (SOBI)	
Data Analysis	41
Chapter III. Results	42
Descriptive Statistics	42
Main Analyses	45
Relations Between MD and Sense of Belonging	45
Relations Between MD and Need to Belong	46
Exploratory Analyses	47
Relations Between Sense of Belonging and Need to Belong	47
Relations Between Study Variables and Demographics	49
Chapter IV. Discussion	51
Maladaptive Daydreaming and Sense of Belonging	52
Maladaptive Daydreaming and Need to Belong	54
Need to Belong and Sense of Belonging	57
Implications and Future Directions	59
Appendix 1. The Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS-16)	61
Appendix 2. The Sense of Belonging Instrument (SOBI)	64
References	67

## List of Tables

Table 1. Differences Between Normal and Maladaptive Daydreaming	15
Table 2. Psychological Conditions That Co-occur With Maladaptive Daydreaming	23
Table 3. Demographic Characteristics of the Full Sample.	43
Table 4. Demographic Characteristics Split by MD Severity (cutoff: 50%).	44
Table 5. Results of the Correlation Analyses	48
Table 6. ANOVA Results for Main Variables Across Demographic Categories	50

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Distribution of Participants Relative to MD Cutoff: Above vs. Below	42
Figure 2. Scatterplot of the Relationship Between Sense of Belonging and Maladaptive	
Daydreaming	45
Figure 3. Bar Chart Showing the Difference in Average Sense of Belonging Between	
Participants Below and Above the MD Cutoff Score.	46
Figure 4. Scatterplot of the Relationship Between Antecedents of Belonging (Need to	
Belong) and Maladaptive Daydreaming.	47
Figure 5. Scatterplot of the Relationship Between Antecedents of Belonging (Need to	
Belong) and Sense of Belonging	48

#### Chapter I.

#### Introduction

Daydreaming has long fascinated researchers across various disciplines due to its ubiquity in human experience. Defined by Singer (1975) as spontaneous and selfgenerated mental activity that unfolds in the absence of external stimuli, daydreaming serves adaptive functions, enabling individuals to process complex information, grasp abstract concepts, recall past events, and plan for the future (Baird et al., 2011; Schooler et al., 2011). However, in some individuals daydreaming can evolve into a maladaptive form (Somer et al., 2016). Somer (2002) introduced the term "maladaptive daydreaming" (MD) to describe a condition characterized by vivid, emotionally charged, and longlasting fantasies that result in detrimental effects to an individual's life such as attention deficit, missed responsibilities, impaired productivity, social isolation, increased anxiety and sleep disturbances (Bigelsen et al., 2016; Ferrante et al., 2022; Greene et al., 2020, Schimmenti & Caretti, 2019; Somer et al., 2017a). Various studies indicate that MD is related to social anxiety, depression, suicide ideation, dissociative disorders, obsessivecompulsive disorder, and a history of childhood trauma (Abu-Rayya et al., 2020; Somer & Herscu, 2017; Somer et al., 2017a; Ross et al., 2020).

The literature suggests that maladaptive daydreamers often resort to fantasy as a coping mechanism to offset emotionally distressing states. It seems that these individuals are trying to fulfill unmet emotional needs, often engaging in parasocial relationships: one-sided, non-reciprocal relationships with media figures, fictional characters, or idealized versions of real people (Horton & Wohl, 1956). MD can also manifest in

fantasies of perfect friendships, supportive families, and professional acclaim (Bigelsen et al., 2016). These findings imply that the nature of MD is predominantly social and that the aspirational drive to experience affection, recognition, and value is met through these constructed narratives. Brenner and colleagues' (2022) research revealed that maladaptive daydreamers exhibit separation insecurity, difficulties with emotion regulation, and anhedonia, while craving intimacy, approval, and recognition, concluding that fantasy in this population has a compensatory role in regulating unmet psychological needs.

Baumeister and Leary (1995) posited that humans possess a fundamental "need to belong", expressed by a motivation to establish and maintain relatedness to others through stable and strong interpersonal relationships. Independently, Hagerty and colleagues (1992) identified what they called a "sense of belonging", defined as the evaluative feeling of fit and involvement with an environment, where the individual feels a strong sense of affiliation and connection with a group. Baumeister and Leary (1995) explained that, from an evolutionary perspective, being part of a group or having many acquaintances is not enough to secure resources, protection, mates, and help. Rather, the quality and depth of social bonds determine how much support one can obtain. Thus, they argued that people tend to seek to establish and maintain lasting, positive, stable, and significant interpersonal relationships with a few other people who share mutual concern for the welfare of one another. When belonging needs are not fulfilled, people normally are motivated to seek out interpersonal contact and form close bonds with a few others (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). However, in the context of maladaptive daydreamers, this

natural inclination to seek out and forge new meaningful relationships appears to be hindered.

The MD literature raises the question of whether maladaptive daydreamers struggle to seek and maintain proper and satisfactory interpersonal relationships due to factors such as past trauma, mental illness, impaired emotion regulation, or antisocial personality. When these individuals' inherent need to belong remains unfulfilled, and traditional avenues for connection are unsuccessful, they may instead retreat into the solace of their imaginations, nurturing parasocial relationships. Baumeister and Leary (1995) argued that the human need to belong influences a broad spectrum of behaviors including the pursuit of power, approval, intimacy, and social engagement, suggesting that unmet belongingness could be linked to various maladaptive behaviors and psychological conditions. Yet, the specific association between MD and the concept of belongingness remains underexplored, with scant attention devoted to understanding the underlying motives and psychological needs prevalent among maladaptive daydreamers. This study seeks to bridge this gap by probing the association between the complex and vivid daydreaming in MD and the broader construct of belongingness, seeking to understand whether the immersive fantasies of MD might correlate with both the individuals' sense of belonging and their need to belong.

#### The History of Psychological Study of Daydreaming

The understanding of daydreaming has evolved substantially over the past century. In 1908, Sigmund Freud associated daydreaming with psychopathology, hysteria, and neurosis and regarded it as a manifestation of unconscious conflicts and wishes (Person et al., 1995). The psychoanalyst Donald Winnicott (1953) recognized that

daydreams, which he referred to as "transitional phenomena", play an important role in the early stages of an individual's emotional growth and self-development, providing a bridge between the internal world of the imagination and the external reality. In Winnicott's view, daydreaming allows individuals to explore and experiment with fantasies and creative thoughts, helping them develop a sense of continuity and a coherent self-identity. He considered daydreaming to be a normal and healthy aspect of a child's imaginative life. Through daydreaming, children process emotions, gain a sense of control over their experiences, and gradually develop the capacity to distinguish between fantasy and reality. Winnicott (1971) described daydreaming as an essential component of a child's emotional well-being and adaptive functioning, manifested through play and creative activities.

Singer and McCraven (1961) were among the first to consider daydreaming a worthy topic of academic exploration. Their research estimated that almost everyone daydreams, even suggesting that all human thought can be classified as daydreaming in one way or another. Later, Klinger (1971) proposed the concept of "current concerns" as a central driver of daydreaming, suggesting that individuals often engage in daydreams that revolve around unresolved personal issues or unmet needs. These daydreams serve as a mechanism to process emotions, explore possibilities, and maintain a sense of continuity in one's self-narrative.

The field of daydreaming research took hold with the publication of Jerome Singer's (1975) book *The Inner World of Daydreaming*, although Singer had been researching and publishing about this topic for more than a decade. Singer's book sparked renewed interest in the study of daydreaming among researchers and

psychologists. Prior to the publication of his book, daydreaming had received relatively little scholarly attention, and it was often dismissed as an idle or unimportant mental activity. Singer's work shed light on the richness and depth of daydreaming experiences, leading to increased research efforts to understand its functions, processes, and impact on individuals' lives. Singer emphasized the role of daydreaming in emotion regulation, creative problem-solving, and the construction of personal narratives. He proposed that daydreaming serves as a form of mental escape and recuperation, allowing individuals to recharge and rejuvenate their cognitive resources. He argued that daydreaming provides individuals with a private and imaginative space to explore their thoughts, emotions, and desires, thereby offering a break from the demands and stresses of daily life. Through daydreaming, individuals can process unresolved conflicts, engage in wish fulfillment, and gain insights into their inner world. Singer's research revealed that daydreaming is not a passive mental activity but an active cognitive process that involves complex thought patterns and emotional engagement. He argued that daydreaming allows individuals to engage in creative problem-solving, envision possibilities, and explore future scenarios. Moreover, Singer suggested that daydreaming plays a role in promoting self-awareness and a sense of identity, as individuals construct and revise their selfconcept through imaginative introspection. In addition to its individual benefits, Singer also explored the social dimensions of daydreaming. He proposed that shared daydreaming experiences, such as engaging in storytelling with others, fosters social cohesion and a sense of belonging within groups or communities.

More recently, daydreaming has been associated with increased activity in brain areas involved in episodic memory retrieval, mental simulation, and social cognition,

highlighting its possible role in fostering creativity, empathy, and social understanding (Mooneyham & Schooler, 2013; Poerio & Smallwood, 2016). In fact, the mind seems to be wired to wander as evidence from the past two decades suggests that mental meanderings embody the brain's natural state, dubbed the "default mode network" (Raichle et al., 2001). Neuroimaging studies have found that daydreaming activates brain regions associated with the default mode network, which is involved in self-referential thinking and introspection (Kucyi & Davis, 2014).

#### Mind-Wandering Versus Daydreaming

Poerio and Smallwood (2016) defined daydreaming as an active process that occurs independently of external stimuli encompassing a range of self-generated thoughts that are unrelated to the immediate external environment, including fantasy, rumination and worry, autobiographical memories, and mental time travel. Although the terms mindwandering and daydreaming are used interchangeably in popular speech and some literature, daydreaming is usually understood as a specific type of mind-wandering that involves the creation of narratives, scenarios, and vivid mental content (Smallwood & Schooler, 2015). Dorsch (2015) differentiated daydreaming from the phenomenon of mind-wandering, describing the former as imaginative mental agency with the goal of producing mental representations with a narrative structure, while the latter is characterized by less control over the stream of consciousness and the occurrence of more or less spontaneously generated thoughts that require little or no agency. According to this framework, daydreaming involves specific processes that may be absent in mindwandering and spontaneous thought, such as fantasy, the creation of narratives, and the emotional connection to characters and stories. Nevertheless, both mind-wandering and

daydreaming are considered universal phenomena that arise from the interaction between external demands and internal mental states and are thus believed to have important adaptive roles (McMillan et al., 2013).

#### Adaptive Daydreaming

This section will review the literature on the adaptive aspects of daydreaming. Subsequently, I will examine the concept of maladaptive daydreaming, its implications, and its distinction from normative daydreaming practices.

One of the distinguishing features of the human mind is its ability to think beyond the present moment, remember the past, imagine the future, or even fantasize about things that do not exist or will ever happen (Buckner & Carroll, 2007). This ongoing stream of consciousness has been called stimulus-independent thought, task-unrelated thought, self-generated thought, daydreaming, and mind-wandering (Chou, 2018). Singer (1975) estimated that around 96% of Americans daydream on a daily basis. Killingsworth and Gilbert's (2010) large-scale study showed that people spend 30% to 50% of their time mind-wandering. Although this activity has gained a bad reputation in cultures where mindfulness and focus are highly valued, there is evidence that the wandering mind plays an important role in cognition and well-being (Corballis, 2015). Gruberger and colleagues (2011) described mind-wandering as "among the most robust and permanent expressions of human conscious awareness, classically regarded... as a core element of an intact sense of self" (p. 1).

Suddendorf and Corballis (2007) posited that the capacity to escape the present moment allows humans to reconstruct past events and project future ones, giving us the concept of time itself, resulting in an understanding of a "continuity between past and

future" (p. 301). Although Corballis (2013) has suggested that mental time travel is not exclusive to humans, by associating it with articulate language, we are able to communicate our thoughts about the "non-present" and thus work with others beyond the needs of the moment, a significant evolutionary achievement. In another paper, Corballis (2009) argued that language itself may have evolved to facilitate the communication of the products of our wandering minds, including ideas and plans about the future, memories, information about others, as well as pure fiction or any experience or knowledge not tied to the immediate environment. Imagining what does not exist or consuming the contents of someone else's imagination, in contrast to just thinking about real world problems and situations, allows humans to create, learn, explore, and experiment with alternative paths and possibilities in a safe and unrestricted manner. Thus, evolution may have favored fantasy thinking as it conferred creative and resourceful individuals more survival and mating opportunities.

Among the most compelling evidence for daydreaming's adaptiveness is fiction. Dubourg and Baumard (2021) have argued that a preference for imaginary worlds has evolved to help individuals explore possible scenarios and choose the best course of action or response to an environmental circumstance. They explained that fiction also has the purpose of exposing the mind to novel environments, propelling individuals to seek new sources of reward as learning experiences can be obtained within the safety of one's mind. Although the authors have examined the role of fictional narratives in literature and movies, it is possible to extrapolate their conclusions to fiction created by the mind, as reports of daydreams closely resemble popular culture productions such as soap operas, movies, and books (Bigelsen et al., 2016). Some people even claim that they feel like

their ability to daydream vividly allows them to have an endless source of entertainment (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011). Fiction enables humans to experience a vast number of social experiences with no risk (Tukachinsky, 2021) and may lead to increased social skills and abilities (Mar et al., 2006). Mar and Oatley (2008) explained that fictional literature "offers models or simulations of the social world via abstraction, simplification, and compression" (p. 173), creating a "deep and immersive simulative experience of social interaction for readers" (p. 173). Moreover, Hogan (2003) pointed out that narratives typically involve social themes, indicating that the desire to consume fiction may be motivated by the need to belong.

The adaptive role of fantasy, both in the form of consumption of fiction and daydreaming, has been explored by several scholars. Singer (1974) was the first to propose that daydreams have an adaptive purpose, suggesting that it is involved in anticipatory planning, preparation for novel situations, psychological homeostasis (e.g., escape tedious situations, mood alteration), and increased self-awareness. The evolutionary role of fantasy, including play, fiction, and daydreaming, was subsequently studied by Carroll (2018), Smallwood and Andrews-Hanna (2013), and Corballis (2013) who suggested that by allowing consciousness freedom from the present moment, mind-wandering is a clear evolutionary adaptation for the mind as the ability to imagine paves the way for creativity, planning, prospection, and complex cognition.

Poerio and Smallwood's (2016) meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies has found that daydreaming and social cognition share a neural basis. The researchers argued that, although still underappreciated, this form of unconstrained cognition enables humans to navigate the social world by aiding the understanding of interactions and the pursuit of

social goals. In his work with children, Singer (1975) noted that they often create parallel worlds with imaginary characters to exercise the skills and concepts they are learning in the real world. Evolutionarily, this faculty would have been a tremendous advantage to help children prepare for adulthood (Corballis, 2015). Tukachinsky (2011) explained that daydreaming about romantic experiences, usually with celebrities and media figures, allows adolescents to practice romantic scripts and safely learn about relationships just by imagining them. Adults also daydream in a healthy manner. Baars (2010) proposed that adults use daydreaming to work out problems, rehearse future engagements, organize information, or even manifest suppressed desires.

Recent research has examined the role of daydreaming in emotion regulation. Some studies suggest that daydreaming may serve as a coping mechanism to regulate emotions and manage stress (Ruby et al., 2013). Thomson and Jaque's (2023a) research showed that daydreaming can provide emotional relief and contribute to psychological well-being, while negative daydreams may be used to prepare for potential adverse outcomes, contributing to adaptive emotional processing. The authors emphasize that negative daydreams may be linked with emotion regulation challenges.

As a widespread human phenomenon, daydreaming is believed to be a vital aspect of mental health and social cognition. The reviewed literature highlights the importance of daydreaming in fostering creativity, problem-solving, empathy, perspective-taking, autobiographical planning, self-reflection, facilitating self-awareness and helping individuals make personal and social decisions. Although the capacity to escape the present moment and spend time thinking, remembering, or imagining is a tremendous evolutionary achievement, it does not come without a cost.

#### Maladaptive Daydreaming

Despite the apparent benefits of daydreaming and its importance to learning, planning, and making sense of the world, it can become dysfunctional, causing distress, shame, anxiety, disrupting productivity, learning goals, and relationships. When daydreaming interferes with daily responsibilities and causes distress it becomes maladaptive as it is not serving its purpose. Excessive daydreaming is often associated with guilt, dysphoria, and a lack of attentional control that hinders the individual's ability to lead a successful and productive life, causing shame, distress, and dysfunction (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011; Somer et al., 2017a).

Although the detrimental aspects of daydreaming have been a subject of scientific inquiry since at least Freud, it was only in the 1980s that a daydreaming disorder was first proposed. Wilson and Barber (1982) coined the term "fantasy proneness" to describe a tendency to fantasize in a manner approaching hallucination (e.g., having difficulty telling fantasy from reality) and report supernatural beliefs and experiences. Individuals with these tendencies were excellent hypnotic subjects. Further investigation revealed a strong correlation between fantasy proneness and both psychopathology (Rauschenberger & Lynn, 1995) and lower self-esteem (Greenwald & Harder, 1995).

Later, Somer (2002) identified a possible sub-group of fantasy-prone individuals who exhibited complex, persistent, and vivid daydreams but who did not share the supernatural beliefs and experiences described in Wilson and Barber's (1982) sample. To categorize this new group, Somer (2002) proposed maladaptive daydreaming (MD) as a new psychiatric disorder. Following his initial proposal, a growing body of research

began to delineate MD as a distinct psychiatric condition, emphasizing its unique characteristics and potential diagnostic criteria.

Studies conducted in the years following Somer's proposal have explored the depth and breadth of MD, revealing its significant impact on individuals' daily functioning and psychological well-being. Bigelsen and Schupak (2011) and Bigelsen and colleagues (2016) conducted in-depth qualitative analyses of self-reported experiences of individuals with MD, highlighting the intense emotional investment in daydreams, the difficulty in controlling the daydreaming episodes, and the consequent impairment in social, academic, and occupational functioning. These studies detailed the unique characteristics of MD, underscoring a compulsive, immersive, and often distressing pattern that stands in sharp contrast to typical daydreaming.

Additionally, the development of the Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS) by Somer and colleagues (2016a) facilitated empirical research by providing a tool for quantifying daydreaming severity and distinguishing between adaptive and maladaptive daydreaming. This scale helped solidify MD's status as a potentially diagnosable condition by demonstrating that individuals with MD score significantly higher on measures of daydreaming intensity, emotional attachment to daydreams, and distress caused by daydreaming compared to non-MD populations.

These subsequent studies have not only reinforced the idea that MD is a distinct psychiatric disorder but also paved the way for a more comprehensive understanding of its etiology, phenomenology, and impact on individuals' lives (Abu-Rayya et al., 2020; Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011; Brenner et al., 2022; Ferrante et al., 2022; Ross et al., 2020; Schimmenti & Caretti, 2019; Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2018; Soffer-Dudek & Somer,

2021; Somer & Herscu, 2017; Somer et al., 2016b; Somer et al., 2017a; Somer et al., 2017b). The growing consensus among researchers is that MD represents a significant and distinct form of psychopathology, meriting further investigation and consideration in clinical settings.

Distinguishing Between Adaptive and Maladaptive Daydreaming

MD differs from normative daydreaming as it involves a large degree of fantasy (Bigelsen et al., 2016) and it generally causes significant distress and social impairment as these individuals refrain from social contact to engage with this internal world (Somer et al., 2017a) and feel ashamed, employing efforts to hide this habit from others (Somer et al., 2016b). Schupak & Rosenthal (2009) found that many individuals with MD experience significant distress and a desire to stop daydreaming, which contrasts with the often pleasurable nature of fantasizing seen in normative daydreaming.

While in normal daydreaming people may occasionally indulge in fantasies, even creating imaginary characters (e.g., an idealized romantic partner), they do not feel connected to these narratives and characters or distressed if they are unable to focus on their imagination (Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2018). A key distinction in MD is the emotional connection that maladaptive daydreamers report feeling towards the fantasy they create and maintain. Some, for example, nurture the same fictitious characters for decades. These characters age appropriately and become part of their life's story (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011).

Normal daydreamers allow their minds to wander for pleasure, having a higher degree of control over the behavior and being able to stop at will, whereas maladaptive daydreamers report feeling anxious when forced to stop daydreaming (Sándor et al.,

2021), and experiencing distress and a sense of longing if they are kept from engaging in these fantasies for any reason (Somer & Herscu, 2017). Maladaptive daydreamers also find pleasure in this activity, but may display signs of addiction, feeling unable to contain the urge to daydream (Pietkiewicz et al., 2018; Somer, 2018).

The volume of daydreams is also excessive in MD. Some maladaptive daydreamers report spending most of their waking hours immersed in fantasies, even while engaging in professional and social activities (Ross et al., 2020). While it is common for most people to engage in mind-wandering or daydreaming to some extent (Killingsworth & Gilbert, 2010), the level of absorption in MD seems to be more intense (Bigelsen et al., 2016). Maladaptive daydreamers experience daydreams that hold their attention for prolonged periods, demanding a significant amount of focus and mental resources.

Moreover, Somer (2018) described a key characteristic of MD as an enhanced capacity for immersive daydreaming. This trait allows individuals to experience vivid imaginary scenarios with a heightened sense of being "present" within these mental constructs, rather than in the actual moment. Consequently, MD is distinguished from normative daydreaming by the depth and duration of engagement in these imagined realities, leading to a psychological disengagement from the physical environment (Bigelsen et al., 2016). This intense inward focus and immersion mean that, unlike typical daydreaming, maladaptive daydreamers often experience a detachment from real-world interactions and settings, reporting a preference for their imaginary life (Somer, 2002). Table 1 provides a comparison between normal daydreaming and maladaptive daydreaming.

Normal daydreamers	Maladaptive daydreamers
Occasionally indulge in fantasies	Frequently indulge in fantasies
Daydreams are rarely vivid or fanciful	Daydreams tend to be vivid and fanciful, involving complex narratives and characters
No or weak emotional connection to narratives and imaginary characters	Strong emotional connection to narratives and imaginary characters
Fictitious characters in daydreams (e.g., an idealized romantic partner) are short- lived	Fictious characters in daydreams have complex personalities and are nurtured for longer periods (e.g., months or years)
Daydream for pleasure and entertainment	May daydream for pleasure and entertainment, but also daydream to soothe emotional pain and control anxiety
Are in control of the daydreams and able to stop at will	Are often unable to stop daydreaming at will
Absence of urge to daydream	Uncontrollable urge to daydream
Absence of distress if unable to engage with or continue a daydream	Distress if interrupted or unable to daydream for prolonged periods of time
No distress as a result of daydreaming, which is not disruptive to life	Distress experienced as a result of excessive daydreaming (due to impaired functioning and neglected responsibilities)
Do not seek opportunities to daydream	Proactively seek opportunities to daydream (usually by isolating oneself)
No self-consciousness about daydreaming	Shame and efforts to keep this behavior from others

## Table 1. Differences Between Normal and Maladaptive Daydreaming

## Underlying Mechanisms of MD

Despite the pleasure and comfort provided by daydreaming, maladaptive daydreamers claim the condition causes them "agony due to its addictive and timeconsuming properties" (Somer et al., 2016b, p. 471). Although not officially recognized as a clinical disorder in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), evidence suggests that MD shares common features with traditional behavioral addictions. Pietkiewicz and colleagues (2018) suggested that the impulsive, uncontrollable, and repetitive nature of daydreaming in MD resembles other addictive behaviors. At its core, addiction often reflects an attempt to fill voids or address unmet needs within an individual's life, with a deficient sense of belonging being one of the most poignant (Dingle, 2018). Individuals with substance use disorders often report lower levels of social support and higher levels of social isolation compared to the general population (Cacioppo & Patrick, 2008). Additionally, the concept of self-medication in the context of addiction points to the use of substances or behaviors to cope with emotional pain, including the distress arising from a lack of belonging (Khantzian, 1997).

Brenner and colleagues (2022) suggested that specific personality traits can influence the thematic focus of daydreaming experiences. The research found that individuals exhibiting grandiosity often engaged in daydreams centered around wish fulfillment, power, and dominance, suggesting that MD could serve as a stage for their aspirations and desires for superiority. Similarly, those characterized by separation insecurity predominantly fantasized about relationships, possibly reflecting a deep-seated yearning for connection and intimacy, which they might feel is lacking in their lives. Respondents with traits of anhedonia leaned towards daydreams providing escape and distraction from unpleasant realities, aligning with the trait's association with a lack of pleasure or disinterest in engaging with life.

Additionally, more recent evidence has pointed to a connection between MD and difficulties in emotion regulation. Thomson and Jaque (2023b) have shown that

difficulties with emotion regulation, particularly in managing impulsive behavior under negative psychological states and a lack of effective strategies for handling such emotions, are prominent predictors of MD. This association results in a vicious cycle where emotional distress triggers intense daydreaming, which in turn undermines the development of necessary emotion regulation skills. They also found that individuals with elevated MD showed greater challenges in managing their emotions, displaying impulse control difficulties, decreased acceptance of negative emotions, and challenges in mobilizing goal-directed behavior. The study suggests that maladaptive daydreamers struggle more significantly with regulating their emotions than non-MD sufferers, which can exacerbate the intensity and frequency of their daydreaming episodes.

Recently, Somer and his colleague, Soffer-Dudek (2021), proposed that MD might be a dissociative disorder. Dissociation has been explained as a "disruption of a united sense of self and a failure to accurately integrate multisensory information between self and social environment" (Cacioppo, 2016, p. 1). Dissociation is understood as a continuum of agency that ranges from non-pathological dissociation (e.g., highway hypnosis, multi-tasking, daydreaming while engaging in repetitive tasks) to dissociative identity disorder (DID), when there is a sense of disconnection from one's own identity (Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2021). Carlson and Putnam (1993) suggested that what they referred to as dissociative absorption encompasses a continuum of imaginative experiences that includes mild absorption, such as normative daydreaming and mindwandering or getting lost in a book or movie, to more profound states of dissociation where individuals may experience a temporary detachment from reality. The authors acknowledge that dissociative absorption can be a normal and adaptive psychological

phenomenon, as it allows individuals to engage in creative activities, self-reflection, and imaginative thinking. It is a capacity to temporarily detach from the immediate environment and focus intensely on internal experiences. However, the authors also caution that excessive or maladaptive dissociative absorption may be associated with dissociative disorders and other psychological difficulties. When dissociative absorption becomes too pervasive or interferes with daily functioning, it could be indicative of underlying psychological distress or unresolved trauma.

As daydreaming takes the dreamer "elsewhere", it is considered to be a type of dissociation. However, in MD individuals retain a reasonable level of control over reality, often carrying out automatic behaviors and even productive tasks such as writing while in this dissociated state (Bregman-Hai et al., 2018). Thus, Soffer-Dudek and Somer (2021) suggested that MD is an extreme form absorption, characterized by an intrinsic ability for immersive daydreaming, albeit still in the normality range of dissociation. In other words, MD may be a dissociative disorder, but unrelated to DID, the most pathological form of dissociation. The authors concluded that although most cases of immersive daydreaming are not related to extreme dissociation, MD increases the risk of developing DID when severe trauma is present.

Dissociation is often regarded as a defense mechanism that individuals may unconsciously employ to cope with overwhelming stress, trauma, or distressing experiences (Foa & Hearst-Ikeda, 1996). Winnicott (1971) described the case of a middle-aged woman who has been daydreaming compulsively since early childhood to deal with her self-perceived inadequacy. Her daydreams served as a form of dissociation, allowing her to retreat from the distressing realities of her life and create an alternative

world in her mind. Winnicott (1971) observed that she became absorbed in these inner fantasies, often losing touch with external reality and interpersonal relationships. In his words:

By means of the dissociation, reinforced by a series of significant frustrations in which her attempts to be a whole person in her own right met with no success, she became a specialist in this one thing: being able to have a dissociated life while seeming to be playing with the other children in the nursery. (...) As my patient grew older so she managed to construct a life in which nothing that was really happening was fully significant to her. Gradually she became one of the many who do not feel that they exist in their own right as whole human beings. All the time, without her knowing it, while she was at school and later at work, there was another life going on in terms of the part that was dissociated. Put the other way around, this meant that her life was dissociated from the main part of her, which was living in what became an organized sequence of fantasying (p. 29).

This case study provided valuable insights into the use of daydreaming as a

coping strategy in response to emotional challenges, and the ways in which the mind employs such imaginative defenses through the process of dissociation to preserve the integrity of the self. Dissociation in the context of MD can be seen as a coping mechanism, where the intense immersion into a daydream acts as a temporary escape from the discomforts of reality, including the acute pain of social disconnection. The literature suggests that this withdrawal into an inner world doesn't seem to be merely a retreat from external stressors but also an attempt to create an alternate realm where the individual feels a sense of connection and belonging that is missing in their real-life interactions. This perspective aligns with the theories suggesting that dissociative behaviors, including the vivid and immersive daydreams characteristic of MD, can be understood as compensatory mechanisms employed to manage emotional distress stemming from social isolation or rejection (Ferrante et al., 2022; Schimmenti, 2018).

#### Developmental Pathways of MD

Many maladaptive daydreamers report the onset of MD during childhood, with daydreams typically involving cartoon characters, and never grow out of it (Witkin, 2019). Although most sources agree that MD starts in childhood, or in rare cases, adolescence, there is still debate over what conditions heighten risk for it. A leading theory is that childhood trauma may increase risk for developing MD. Somer's (2002) initial paper on MD, based on trauma patients who were recovering from early traumatic experiences, lead him to suggest that adverse experiences in childhood were the main cause of MD. Subsequent studies examined this relationship and have found a correlation between trauma and MD (Abu-Rayya, 2020; Sandór et al., 2023; Somer et al, 2016b; Somer et al. 2021). In Bigelsen and Schupak's (2011) study, 27% of their sample reported childhood trauma, leading further studies to suggest that MD may have multiple developmental pathways (Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2021). Nevertheless, Ferrante and colleagues (2022) contend that the range of emotional trauma that could drive a child to seek refuge in imaginary scenarios is very wide, thus further scrutiny is necessary when investigating the connection between MD and early psychological stress. Just asking participants if they experienced childhood trauma or wording questions in a way that suggests that the researcher is asking about extremely traumatic experiences may result in false negatives. The researchers concluded that emotional abuse in childhood generates an increased sense of shame and dissociation, leading a predisposed individual to hide in an imaginary world. For instance, the authors speculated that excessively critical parents can drive a child to repeatedly seek comfort in a daydream. An adult with this history would not report having experienced childhood trauma, although these painful episodes

may have left deep wounds. Schimmenti and Caretti (2016) also argued that emotional trauma usually produces silent evidence that the individual may not easily recognize. Emotional trauma that children are most vulnerable to are related to bonds with family and caretakers which form the base of an individual's sense of belonging.

#### Psychological Diagnoses Associated With MD

A large percentage of maladaptive daydreamers meet the diagnostic criteria for at least one DSM disorder (Somer, 2018). Among the conditions frequently associated with MD, Somer and colleagues (2017a) indicated that attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is the most common, identified in 76.9% of cases, followed by anxiety disorders (71.8%), depressive disorder (66.7%), and OCD (53.9%). Furthermore, a recent systematic assessment of psychiatric comorbidity in MD conducted by Somer and colleagues (2017a) with 39 participants who met the criteria for MD revealed that 74.4% of MD sufferers meet the criteria for three disorders, and 41.1% meet the criteria for four or more. Table 2 displays the distribution of conditions diagnosed in MD patients according to Somer and colleagues' study.

The relationship between MD and the co-occurrence of certain psychiatric conditions remains an area of ongoing investigation. It is yet to be determined whether the propensity for excessive daydreaming contributes directly to the development of these conditions or if a constellation of underlying psychological factors predisposes individuals to both MD and other disorders. Incorporating the concept of equifinality, the idea that a specific end state can be reached by many potential means or through different paths (Cicchetti & Cohen, 2006), provides a framework for understanding the emergence of MD. This principle suggests that MD can develop through various routes—childhood trauma is one pathway (Somer et al., 2021), but others might include emotional distress (Bacon & Charlesford, 2018; Ferrante et al, 2022), sexual abuse (Abu-Rayya et al., 2020), dissociation (Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2021), impulse-control or obsessivecompulsion spectrum disorders (Somer, 2018), behavioral addiction (Pietkiewicz et al., 2018), social isolation (Rhue & Lynn, 1987), deficient emotion regulation (Greene et al., 2020), pathological personality traits (Horvath-Labancz et al., 2022), attention deficit (Theodor-Katz et al., 2022), low self-esteem (Greenwald & Harder, 1995), and disordered attachment styles (Costanzo et al., 2021). Equifinality underscores the idea that although there may be different precursors to MD, the end state—extensive engagement in daydreaming as a compensatory mechanism—remains the same.

Somer and colleagues (2016b) suggested that a feedback loop may be created when children with certain personality traits, such as shyness and creativity, discover the immense pleasure they can derive from their imagination. This activity may hinder their acquisition of social skills and engagement in the present moment, triggering a "spiral of increased social dysfunction" (p. 473). For instance, conditions such as social anxiety, commonly diagnosed in individuals with MD, may both contribute to and exacerbate this cycle. Social isolation and a history of childhood adversity, factors often present in the lives of those with MD, can lead to increased reliance on fantasy as a form of escapism (Somer & Herscu, 2017). However, even as the initial circumstances prompting this retreat into daydreaming may change or resolve, the habit itself can take on an addictive quality, persisting as a dominant coping strategy.

The possible functions and mechanisms of MD suggest that it operates not merely as a symptom but as a dysfunctional coping strategy. It provides individuals with a

psychological escape hatch through which they can momentarily disengage from the challenges of their external reality and engage with an inner world that is awash with the validation, understanding, and acceptance they crave. This internal engagement, while offering temporary relief and pleasure, may also perpetuate a cycle of avoidance, where daydreamers increasingly turn inward to fulfill their needs, further distancing themselves from actual interpersonal experiences and opportunities for genuine connection (Bigelsen et al., 2016). Over time, this behavior can either give rise to or exacerbate symptoms of mental illnesses such as depression and social anxiety, as the individual's persistent avoidance and retreat into fantasy can hinder their ability to develop and maintain healthy coping mechanisms and social skills, ultimately exacerbating feelings of isolation and sadness (Ferrante et al., 2022).

DSM-5 diagnostic categories	Frequency in MD patients
Attention disorders	76.92%
Anxiety disorders	71.79%
Depressive disorders	66.67%
Obsessive-compulsive and related disorders	53.85%
Sleep-wake disorders	23.08%
Bipolar and related disorders	15.38%
Substance related and addictive disorders	15.38%
Dissociative disorders	12.82%
Trauma and stressor-related disorders	5.13%
Feeding and eating disorders	5.13%
Disruptive, impulse control, and conduct disorders	5.13%
Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders	2.56%

Table 2. Psychological Conditions That Co-occur With Maladaptive Daydreaming

Note. Frequency of DSM-5 diagnostic categories according to the research of Somer and colleagues (2017a) with 39 participants. The authors also indicate that more than a quarter of the sample had at least one suicide attempt.

MD seems to be driven by a desire to leave the present moment and enjoy a more fulfilling life in an alternate mental universe (Bigelsen et al., 2016). The purpose of daydreaming for this population may be to soothe emotional pain, seek pleasure when little can be obtained from the environment, and replace psychological and social needs that might be missing from a sufferer's life such as friendships, romantic relationships, and professional success (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011; Sándor et al. 2021; Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2018; Somer, 2002). The qualitative studies included in this review revealed a portrait of the maladaptive daydreamer as an individual who is generally unhappy and faces psychosocial challenges, such as loneliness, bullying, and social anxiety, seeking in their imagination a psychological comfort blanket that soothes painful emotions and provides a distraction to offset negative feelings or replace real-life interactions (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011). Together, this suggests that MD may be promoted by a pursuit of belongingness.

The literature seems to suggest that MD serves a critical, albeit dysfunctional, role in the individual's quest for belongingness, hinting at the idea that MD may be a manifestation of the psyche's attempt to reconcile the gap between desired and actual social experiences. By understanding MD through this lens, it is possible to gain insight into the impact of belongingness on human behavior and the lengths to which individuals will go to attain a semblance of this fundamental human need.

#### Belongingness

Belongingness, or the sense of belonging, is a fundamental human need that influences both individual and social behavior (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). It refers to the extent to which an individual feels accepted, included, and valued within a social

group or environment (Hagerty et al., 1992). The theoretical conceptualization of belongingness can be traced back to Maslow's (1943) Hierarchy of Needs, where he postulates that after physiological and safety needs, humans seek love and belonging. Subsequent research has expanded on this theory. Anant (1966) went as far as to suggest that the psychology of belonging could serve as the critical missing conceptual piece for understanding and explaining mental illness. Later, Hagerty and colleagues (1992) developed a concept they called a "sense of belonging", defined as "the experience of personal involvement in a system or environment so that persons feel themselves to be an integral part of that system or environment" (p. 172).

Baumeister and Leary (1995) hypothesized that humans possess an intrinsic need to form and maintain strong, stable, and nonaversive interpersonal relationships they called "need to belong". They stressed that belonging appears to be a need and not simply a desire because mental and physical impairment is observed when it is hindered. The lack of a sense of attachment, they argued, is responsible for a variety of ill effects on well-being, health, and adjustment. These two constructs seem to be complementary. While the need to belong encapsulates an individual's desire for interpersonal acceptance and inclusion (Leary et al., 2013), the concept of sense of belonging refers to a psychological state that reflects the degree to which one's belonging needs are met (Hagerty & Patusky, 1995). Not only individuals vary in the degree of their need to belong, their sense of belonging may also be impacted by internal and external factors such as previous experiences and personality.

From an evolutionary perspective, belonging to a group can be seen as a survival strategy that has been hard-wired into our psyches over millennia of human evolution

(Baumeister & Leary, 1995). The rugged environments of prehistoric times favored those part of a group, as members could pool resources, share responsibilities such as hunting and gathering, offer protection against predators or hostile groups, and care for the young and sick (Caporael, 1997). Conversely, isolation from a group often meant a higher likelihood of death. Thus, natural selection likely favored individuals adept at forming and sustaining social bonds (Buss, 1995). These relationships were not only vital for survival but also for reproduction. Membership in a group increased an individual's opportunities of finding a mate, and those perceived as socially desirable were more likely to attract high-quality mates and produce offspring (Buss & Schmitt, 1993). Over evolutionary time, this would have led to a bias towards individuals who value social connections and a sense of belonging.

Importantly, this sense of belonging isn't simply about group membership, but rather about emotional connection, mutual respect, and shared values (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). The perceived availability and quality of support in times of need seem to be the metrics that gauge the fulfillment of belongingness needs. Access to this kind of social support or intimacy appears to have marked effects on physical and psychological well-being. Holt-Lunstad and colleagues (2010), for instance, found that perceived social support—or lack thereof—was a stronger predictor of mortality than the actual presence of others. Uchino and colleagues (2012) showed that high-quality social relationships can decrease stress, improve mental health, and even boost immunity.

However, because every social interaction carries risks, belonging is not guaranteed (Gilbert, 2001). Every relationship carries potential for both opportunities and costs and, thus, humans have evolved to seek affiliation with those who can provide

benefits, while excluding those who appear to pose a threat or risk to fitness (Cottrell & Leary, 2013). Several psychological adaptations likely evolved to monitor how one is perceived and evaluated by others (Leary & Baumeister, 2000) and are rooted in the need for social acceptance and avoidance of social rejection (Cottrell & Leary, 2013). Many mechanisms that are related to fear and anxiety, for instance, are connected to the monitoring of one's own standing in a group (Gilbert, 2001). Social rejection, which can include bullying, racism, ostracism, emotional abuse, deficient early attachment, and social exclusion, sends the message that the individual is not appreciated, and hence not part of the group (Cottrell & Leary, 2013). The experience of social rejection violates the need for belonging and can therefore trigger such responses as depression (Levi-Belz & Feigelman, 2022), social anxiety (Arditte et al., 2016), and anhedonia (Slavich & Irwin, 2014).

### MD as a Maladaptive Coping Strategy Following Thwarted Belongingness

Daydreaming, even at normal levels, appears to be a common strategy for safely mitigating feelings of loneliness or social ineptitude, implying that it plays a role in facilitating navigation of the social world (Poerio & Smallwood, 2016) and enhancing moods (Somer, 2002). The volume and intensity of daydreaming seems to be motivated by the yearning for social connection, while at the same time maladaptive daydreamers avoid real relationships and social contact because either absorption requires solitude (Somer et al., 2016c) or they fear rejection (Somer et al., 2016b). Thus, individuals who experience social challenges may be driven to engage with an imagined social life more often and intensely than people who daydream for pleasure or employ other strategies to achieve emotion regulation.
The psychiatric conditions observed in MD sufferers, such as anxiety, depressive, and dissociative disorders, as well as substance abuse, are predominantly associated with social adversity, suggesting a significant link rather than a coincidence. Ferrante and colleagues' (2022) study about the role of shame and dissociation in MD, for instance, associated emotional trauma with a sense of lack of affiliation, self-defectiveness and feelings of inadequacy and unworthiness. Although the authors make no mention of constructs related to belongingness, their findings imply that maladaptive daydreamers crave intimate connections that they are not obtaining in real life, and that the severity of pathological daydreaming is increased by the extent of emotional trauma. Likewise, Schimmenti and colleagues (2020) have found strong correlations between high scores in the MD scale (MDS-16) and experiences of dissociation, shame and global psychopathology, likely driven by traumatic experiences and anxious attachment. The authors suggest that this pattern of associations indicate that MD involves significant mental and behavioral dysfunction, often diagnosed as maladaptive personality traits, impaired emotion regulation and linked with shame and detachment. In turn, some of the same conditions are also frequently observed in individuals who display a deficient sense of belonging (Cockshaw et al., 2013; Davidson et al., 2011; Neuner, 2013).

Qualitative MD studies are particularly rich with reports that reveal the concerns of maladaptive daydreamers with belongingness and social acceptance. Bigelsen and Schupak (2011) revealed that aspirational daydreams are common in this population. These fantasies involve accomplishing heroic goals and being appreciated by others. Daydreaming about being important or famous, although not uncommon in general (Belviso, 2020), seems to be very frequent among maladaptive daydreamers. Participants

often report imagining a life where they are rich, famous, successful in professional careers, or have many loyal and loving friends. In Bigelsen and Schupak's (2011) study, one participant says that fantasizing allows them to "take a break from the harsh reality". Another reports frequent fantasies about being diagnosed with cancer and then enjoying imagining the emotional reaction of friends and family members, eliciting a sense of satisfaction and a feeling of being loved and cared for. Many of these daydreams are not short-lived episodes, as is common in normative daydreaming; instead, they are long-term narratives that function as an alternative life. They supply the individual's psychological needs, likely because these needs are not being met in real life. In Bigelsen and colleagues' (2016) qualitative study one participant reported "living" with 35 made up characters since childhood, while a 40-year-old woman claimed that her daydreams are based on a TV show she watched when she was 10 years-old and the characters have "lived" with her ever since.

This strong and enduring connection with imaginary or fictional characters may be an attempt to fulfill unmet belongingness needs. Early experiences tend to have a stronger role in forming an individual's sense of identity and affiliation with a group (Baumeister & Robson, 2021). The fact that MD starts in childhood is an indication that sufferers may have experienced thwarted belongingness from an early age, and thus may have shaped a world view in which social interactions are risky, leading them to internalize the idea that life in a dream world is safer and more satisfying.

Research on rejection, social exclusion, and loneliness may shed light on the reasons why maladaptive daydreamers often choose to seek fulfillment of their belongingness needs through parasocial relationships rather than forming bonds with real

people. When individuals experience rejection or social exclusion, they may develop a heightened fear of further rejection, which can lead to a reluctance to engage in real relationships (Leary, 2012). This fear and hesitancy may drive maladaptive daydreamers to seek solace and connection in their imaginative worlds, where they have control over the interactions and outcomes (Somerville et al., 2013). The experience of rejection or social exclusion can have profound emotional and psychological effects on individuals (Twenge et al., 2003). These negative experiences can erode one's self-esteem and selfworth, making it challenging to trust others and form meaningful connections (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). Individuals who have experienced chronic loneliness, for instance, may turn to alternative sources of companionship and belonging (Cacioppo et al., 2010). Maladaptive daydreamers, who may have encountered such negative social experiences, may develop a self-protective mechanism that allows them to avoid the potential pain and vulnerability associated with real relationships. Thus, the imaginative worlds and parasocial relationships in MD may offer a perceived sense of belonging and emotional support, providing a temporary alleviation of their feelings of social inadequacy and loneliness (Schimmenti & Caretti, 2019).

## Parasocial Relationships

Parasocial relationships refer to the one-sided relationships formed between media consumers and mediated figures, such as celebrities, characters, or social media influencers. Originally proposed by Horton and Wohl (1956) to explain the bonds people form with TV personalities, parasocial interactions are characterized by what the authors described as "intimacy at a distance" (p. 215), where the individual invests emotional energy, interest, and time, but the persona is completely unaware of their existence. The novelty of media communications to human's evolutionary old brain creates a situation where individuals frequently see and hear others who they have never met. An artificial sense of intimacy is then generated, and the audience may develop signs of attachment and feelings for these mediated personas. Now, in the age of social media, some people develop even more intense bonds with celebrities and influencers, resulting occasionally in cases of stalking (Wilson et al., 2018), sexual harassment (Adams, 2021), and even murder (Wykes, 2007).

In 1958, Harlow published a landmark study on what he called "the nature of love" in which infant monkeys were taken from their mothers and given the choice between a wire figure that contained a bottle of milk and a cloth monkey with no food. The baby was then observed going to the "wire mother" to feed and then quickly running to the "cloth mother" for comfort, where he stayed most of the time. The cloth mother filled the role of what was later called a "social surrogate" (Gardner & Knowles, 2008). Harlow concluded that animals do not form attachments based on who feeds them but based on who comforts them.

Gabriel et al. (2016) argued that humans can be flexible in how they fulfil their social needs and thus, similarly to Harlow's cloth mother, symbolic and non-human targets are often used as social surrogates. For instance, books and movies can draw the reader into complex social worlds that feel real and may provoke the same emotions experienced in real-life situations. Looking at pictures or checking social media updates of friends and family has been shown to remind people of others and may strengthen the sense of connection and belonging (Nadkarnia & Hofmann, 2012). Gabriel and colleagues' (2016) research revealed that even when alone, humans tend to choose

activities that are manifestations of the social self, such as watching TV, reading, catching up on the lives of favorite celebrities, or being on the internet. Although these activities do not seem social at face value, and may even be preferred by antisocial personalities, they draw the individual into a social world, where people can develop parasocial relationships with real or fictitious characters and personas. This phenomenon is frequently observed in MD, as sufferers frequently claim to base their daydreams on TV shows, books, soap operas, movies, cartoons, and other scenarios that involve imagined characters or attachment figures (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011). The domain of narratives and fictional worlds presents a potent platform for such surrogate social relationships, satisfying the daydreamer's need for companionship.

In MD, narratives are predominantly social and involve themes of social acceptance, recognition, love and romance, friendship, and loyalty, similar to fictional stories (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011). From this perspective, daydreaming can be viewed as self-made, controllable fiction that fulfills needs for social narrative and connection. This desire for connection and acceptance is satisfied through parasocial relationships with both real and fictitious figures. These imaginary or idealized characters, much like Harlow's cloth monkey, provide a comforting and unthreatening presence, allowing maladaptive daydreamers to navigate complex social interactions without the risk of rejection or judgment. The fantasy world and the characters within it can be controlled and manipulated to meet the specific needs of the individual, providing an escape from the unpleasant aspects of their reality. This imaginative risk-free environment is a safe space where daydreamers can express their desires, fears, and hopes (Pietkiewicz et al.,

2018). In this way, maladaptive daydreamers may not only derive pleasure from this activity but also achieve a need for belongingness that is frustrated in real-life.

Aw and Labrecque (2020) observed that the higher the need to belong, the more likely an individual is to develop strong attachments with media figures and celebrities. The development of strong connections to these daydream characters may represent a compensatory mechanism for the lack of satisfying relationships in the real world. Derrick and colleagues (2009) have proposed the *Social Surrogacy Hypothesis*, arguing that parasocial relationships can provide the experience of belonging, buffering individuals against loneliness, low self-esteem, negative moods, and social rejection. Moreover, Pimienta (2023) argued that as an attachment process, parasocial relationships are regulated by the same mechanisms responsible for the formation of emotional bonds in real life. The brain may treat a mediated persona the same as a family member, friend, or lover (Gardner & Knowles, 2008). In other words, parasocial relationships can effectively serve as substitutes for genuine bonds with real people that may be absent or unsatisfactory.

Maladaptive daydreamers report a profound attachment to their daydream characters and a fear that psychological treatment may take them away (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011), suggesting a developed sense of belonging and affection towards these imaginary figures. Therefore, whereas in non-pathological circumstances individuals may consume fiction and engage in parasocial relationships when alone, yet still exhibit healthy social habits (Derrick et al., 2008), maladaptive daydreamers report feeling disconnected from their social world (Somer, 2002). They have replaced human affection and a sense of affiliation with parasocial interactions.

#### Study Aims & Hypothesis

This study seeks to investigate the relationship between maladaptive daydreaming (MD) and the concept of belongingness, considering both the innate need to belong, the individual's desire and energy to invest in social relationships, and the subjective sense of belonging, the perception of fit, inclusion and acceptance in a social environment.

The first research question asks whether MD is associated with a sense of belonging. Given the literature summarized above suggesting that limited sense of belonging might contribute to a need for daydream excessively, I hypothesized that individuals with MD tendencies will demonstrate a lower sense of belonging relative to non-maladaptive daydreamers. This hypothesis presupposes that the immersive nature of MD might hinder or alter an individual's perception and experience of social connectedness, leading to a diminished sense of belonging, and aligns with prior studies suggesting a potential link between excessive daydreaming and feelings of disconnection from reality, potentially influencing one's sense of belongingness within social groups or communities.

The second question examines whether MD is related to the need to belong. I hypothesize that individuals with MD might demonstrate an intensified need to belong, reflecting an underlying psychological drive that seeks fulfillment through alternative means when real-world interactions are insufficient. Given the nature of the daydreams observed in this population, it seems that MD individuals have a higher desire to connect and form strong bonds with others, but the lack of fulfillment of this need leads them to seek inclusion and validation in an imaginary world. This elevated need to belong among

MD individuals might therefore be seen both as a driving force behind their daydreaming and as a consequence of their unmet desires for social connectedness and validation.

This study aims to contribute with insights into the complex relationship between MD and the fundamental human desire for belongingness, potentially informing interventions and support mechanisms for individuals grappling with MD and its associated social implications.

#### Chapter II.

Methods

The present study has employed previously validated methods and measures. No new instruments were developed for this research.

#### Participants

Participants were recruited online from forums that discuss maladaptive daydreaming (MD) and other psychiatric illnesses such as anxiety, dissociation, attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and depression, as well as general discussion groups. Groups that discuss MD and related conditions aimed to attract a self-diagnosed sample, while general discussion forums targeted participants who likely don't display MD. Although this study did not employ a control group, the goal was to attract a more diverse sample, including individuals who did not exhibit MD.

Eligible participants were over 18 years old and had never been diagnosed with schizophrenia. Maladaptive daydreaming (MD) is frequently observed in patients with other psychiatric conditions. However, schizophrenia can pose challenges in an MD study due to the cognitions and hallucinations it may produce, which, despite apparent similarity to MD, are unrelated to it (Schimmenti et al., 2019), potentially introducing confounding effects. Therefore, after careful evaluation, a clinical diagnosis of schizophrenia was added as an exclusion criterion.

A total of 236 participants submitted the survey. Nineteen participants were excluded because they did not fulfill the research requirements. Thirteen had a previous diagnosis of schizophrenia, five were under 18 and one did not agree to the terms of participation. These participants were redirected to a thank you page and the survey was finalized. Two hundred and seventeen participants were included in the study.

# Procedures

The study protocols were evaluated and deemed to be exempt from IRB review by the Harvard Committee on the Use of Human Subjects, serving as Harvard University's Internal Review Board.

## Data Collection

Participants filled an online survey created using the software Qualtrics (https://www.qualtrics.com). Posts were published in multiple online forums dedicated to the discussion of MD and other psychiatric illness such as anxiety, ADHD, obsessivecompulsive disorder (OCD), dissociation, and depression, as well as general discussion communities, inviting members to participate in the study. Interested participants who clicked the survey link were shown a short description of the study, as well as details including estimated time for completion and informed consent (confidentiality measures, foreseeable risks, contact information). Consenting participants filled out two screening questions to confirm that they were at least 18 years of age and that they have never been diagnosed with schizophrenia. Participants were then asked to answer basic demographic questions (e.g., age, gender, country, occupation) and proceeded to the measurement scales used in this study (MDS-16 and SOBI; Appendices 1 and 2). After finishing participation, subjects saw a thank you message and exited the study. No payment was offered. No identifiable information (e.g., name, email, IP address) was collected during

the survey or therefore associated with the results. Completing the survey took an average of 11 minutes.

#### Measures

Two measurement scales were used in this study, the Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS-16; Somer et al., 2016a, open source) and the Sense of Belonging Instrument (SOBI; Hagerty & Patusky, 1995, used with permission from the authors), divided into SOBI-P, assessing sense of belonging and SOBI-A, assessing the antecedents of sense of belonging—or need to belong, totaling 48 items across the two measures.

The Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS-16). Created by Somer et al. (2016a) as a 14 item self-report questionnaire to diagnose MD, assess immersion in daydreaming, and resulting distress, the scale was later revised to include two additional items to evaluate the role of music in the daydreaming experience (Somer et al., 2016c). The MDS-16 (see appendix 1 for scale items) assesses the level of distress caused by MD, the yearning and urgency to start or return to daydreaming, and the impact of excessive daydreaming on chores and relationships. Answers are rated on an 11-point, percentage based, Likert-type scale, ranging from 0% (no distress or dysfunction due to daydreaming) to 100% (excessive distress and dysfunction due to daydreaming). Higher scores indicate higher levels of immersive daydreaming (Somer et al., 2017b). The MDS-16 has demonstrated excellent sensitivity and high specificity, along with robust internal consistency and temporal stability (test-retest reliability of .92 over approximately 21 weeks) (Somer et al., 2017b). The chosen cutoff score of 50 (on a scale ranging from 0 to 100) effectively discriminates between individuals displaying MD symptoms and those who do not (Somer et al., 2017b).

<u>The Sense of Belonging Instrument (SOBI)</u>. The SOBI (see appendix 2 for scale items) is comprised of two parts: The SOBI-P and SOBI-A. Both parts of the SOBI have four possible responses, each with a corresponding score ranging from one to four (strongly agree to strongly disagree) and a few questions with inverted scoring to ensure validity. The scores of SOBI-A were reversed so that higher scores represented a greater need to belong.

SOBI-P consists of 18 questions and assesses the individual's experience of valued involvement and fit (e.g., "I often wonder if there is any place on earth where I really fit in"), or how much of a sense of belonging the participant feels in relation to his or her environment (e.g., "I generally feel that people accept me"). The authors define value involvement as "the experience of feeling valued, needed, or accepted" (Hagerty & Patusky, 1995, p. 9), and fit as "the perception that the individual's characteristics articulate with the system or environment" (Hagerty & Patusky, 1995, p. 9). Statements such as "I feel like a piece of a jigsaw puzzle that doesn't fit" and "In general, I don't feel connected to the mainstream of society" are intended to gauge the individual's sense of significance within interpersonal relationships and their perceived value as a member of society.

The SOBI-A, comprising 14 questions, is designed to assess the antecedents of sense of belonging. Antecedents are factors or events that precede and potentially cause an individual to feel a certain way about their sense of belonging. By measuring these antecedents, the SOBI-A provides insights into the foundational elements that influence an individual's capacity to feel a sense of belonging. The precursors to this sense of belonging, encapsulated in what can be referred to as need to belong (although the

creators of the SOBI instrument didn't use this term), elucidate an individual's inclination for participation (e.g., "fitting in with people around me matters a great deal"), aspiration for meaningful connections (e.g., "it is important to me that I am valued or accepted by others"), and potential for integration within social groups (e.g., "I have qualities that can be important to others"). The SOBI-A seeks to gauge an individual's drive to actively engage with groups and be appreciated by others, essentially quantifying the strength of their need for belonging.

The SOBI-A's scoring system is designed to assess how well the conditions for belonging are met from the individual's perspective. High scores highlight a strong presence of positive antecedents (energy, desire, potential for involvement), while low scores suggest these antecedents are lacking, potentially impacting the individual's sense of belonging. A high score on the SOBI-A indicates that an individual recognizes the importance of social connections and demonstrates a proactive desire for involvement and acceptance within social groups. It signifies an awareness of the potential for meaningful social interactions and a readiness to engage in such relationships. This proactive stance towards social engagement suggests that the person values social belonging and is motivated to seek out and maintain social connections, reflecting an underlying belief in their own worthiness of belonging. Accordingly, a high score on the SOBI-P reflects an individual's actual experience of feeling valued, accepted, and included within their social environments. It denotes that the person perceives their social interactions as fulfilling and supportive, indicating that their need for belongingness is being met.

Data Analysis

Data were first evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilks tests, as well as Q-Q plots. Mild deviations from normality were observed in the distributions of sense of belonging and need to belong. However, given the robustness of both Pearson correlation and one-way ANOVA against moderate deviations from normality (Field, 2018), transformations were deemed unnecessary, and bootstrapping was chosen as a preferred method to address these deviations.

To determine the strength and direction of the relationship between MDS-16 scores and scores on both the SOBI-P (sense of belonging) and SOBI-A (antecedents of belonging or need to belong) scales, Pearson correlation coefficients were computed. To facilitate interpretation of the correlation coefficient, an independent samples t-test was performed to evaluate the differences in sense of belonging and need to belong between participants below and above the MD clinical cutoff. Pearson correlation coefficients were also computed for the SOBI-P and SOBI-A to assess associations between the two scales.

Additional exploratory analyses investigated potential associations between MD and the constructs of belongingness (sense of belonging and need to belong) with various demographic variables such as gender, region, occupation, relationship status, among others. For this purpose, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed to compare each of these constructs against the demographic variables.

# Chapter III.

Results

Statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS v.29.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 3 presents the demographic characteristics of the study's participants, offering a comprehensive overview of the sample. Figure 1 displays the distribution of participants relative MD based on the cutoff score of 50% proposed by Somer and colleagues (2017b). Table 4 displays demographic characteristics as a function of MD presence.

A significance level of 95% (p < .05) was used for all statistical tests. Bonferroni correction was applied to all pairwise comparisons.

Figure 1. Distribution of Participants Relative to MD Cutoff: Above vs. Below



		Total	%
Age			
Mean = 31.58,			
SD = 12.04			
	18-24	81	37.3%
	25-34	69	31.8%
	35-44	39	18%
	45-54	15	6.9%
	55-64	10	4.6%
	65-74	3	1.4%
Gender identity	Male	43	19.8%
	Female	143	65.9%
	Non-binary / third gender	27	12.4%
	Prefer not to say	4	1.8%
Ethnicity	White	146	67.3%
	Black or African American	9	4.1%
	American Indian or Alaska Native	1	0.5%
	Asian	20	9.2%
	Latino / Hispanic	9	4.1%
	Eastern European	7	3.2%
	Slavic	7	3.2%
	Other	18	8.3%
Relationship status	In a stable relationship (married or	72	33.2%
-	unmarried)		
	Not in a stable relationship, but dating	13	6.0%
	Not in a stable relationship, not dating	127	58.5%
	Other	5	2.3%
Region	Africa	1	0.46%
	Asia	13	5.99%
	Europe	74	34.10%
	Middle East	5	2.3%
	North America	106	48.85%
	Oceania	11	5.07%
	South America	7	3.23%
Education	Less than high school	8	3.7%
	High school graduates	51	23.5%
	Some college	45	20.7%
	2-year degree	13	6.0%
	4-year degree	52	24.0%
	Professional degree	13	14.7%
	Master's degree	32	14.7%
	Doctorate degree	3	1.4%
Occupation	Disabled	6	2.8%
	Employed / self-employed	136	62.7%
	Other / didn't answer	7	3.2%
	Retired	3	1.4%
	Student	42	19.4%
	Unemployed	23	10.6%

Table 3. Demographic Characteristics of the Full Sample.

		No MD	MD
Age	18-24	32	49
	25-34	36	33
	35-44	19	20
	45-54	5	10
	55-64	4	6
	65-74	1	2
Gender	Male	23	20
	Female	59	84
	Non-binary/third gender	13	14
	Prefer not to say	2	2
Relationship status	In a stable relationship (married or	37	35
	unmarried)		
	Not in a stable relationship, but dating	8	5
	Not in a stable relationship, not dating	50	77
	Other	2	3
Education	Less than high school	4	4
	High school graduate	23	28
	Some college	16	29
	2-year college	5	8
	4-year college	26	26
	Professional degree	9	4
	Master's degree	13	19
	Doctorate	1	2
Occupation	Disabled	1	5
	Employed / self-employed	65	71
	Retired	1	2
	Student	18	24
	Unemployed	9	14
	Other / didn't answer	3	4
Ethnicity	White	74	72
	Black or African American	2	7
	American Indian or Alaska Native	0	1
	Asian	8	12
	Latino / Hispanic	3	6
	Eastern European	2	5
	Slavic	2	5
	Other	6	12
Region	Africa	l z	0
	Asia	5	8
	Europe	35	39
	Middle East	2	5
	North America	44	62 5
	Oceania Seculto America	6	5
	South America	4	3

Table 4. Demographic Characteristics Split by MD Severity (cutoff: 50%).

### Main Analyses

Relations Between MD and Sense of Belonging

Consistent with the first hypothesis, MD was negatively correlated with sense of belonging (r(215) = -.330, p < .001), suggesting that higher levels of MD are associated with a lower sense of belonging.



Figure 2. Scatterplot of the Relationship Between Sense of Belonging and Maladaptive Daydreaming.

To facilitate interpretation of the correlation coefficient, an independent samples t-test was performed to compare the mean sense of belonging scores (M = 40.8247, SD = 11.8497) between individuals above and below the MD cutoff of 50% (M = 34.9083, SD = 9.7765). The results indicated a statistically significant difference in the sense of

belonging between the groups, t(215) = 4.030, p < .001. The mean difference was 5.91641 (95% CI = 2.89913, 8.7705). The effect size, indicated by Cohen's *d*, was - 0.550, suggesting a medium to large negative effect. These findings suggest that individuals below the cutoff for MD display a higher sense of belonging compared to those above the cutoff.



Figure 3. Bar Chart Showing the Difference in Average Sense of Belonging Between Participants Below and Above the MD Cutoff Score.

## Relations Between MD and Need to Belong

Contrary to the second hypothesis, MD and the need to belong were unrelated (r = .062, p = .362), indicating no significant linear relationship between these variables. This

suggests that, contrary to the hypothesized expectation, the need to belong did not significantly vary with MD levels in this sample.



Figure 4. Scatterplot of the Relationship Between Antecedents of Belonging (Need to Belong) and Maladaptive Daydreaming.

# **Exploratory Analyses**

Relations Between Sense of Belonging and Need to Belong

The Pearson correlation revealed a moderate positive correlation between the sense of belonging (SOBI-P) and the need to belong (SOBI-A) scores (r = .288, p < .001). This finding indicates that individuals with higher scores on the SOBI-A, denoting

a stronger need to belong, tend to have higher scores on the SOBI-P, reflecting a greater sense of belonging.



Figure 5. Scatterplot of the Relationship Between Antecedents of Belonging (Need to Belong) and Sense of Belonging.

Correlations	n	r	p
MD x Sense of Belonging	217	330	<.001
MD x Need to Belong	217	.062	.362
Sense of belonging x need to belong	217	.288	<.001

Table 5. Results of the Correlation Analyses.

Relations Between Study Variables and Demographics

MD scores did not differ as a function of gender, age, ethnicity, region, education level or occupation (Table 6). Although the ANOVA testing for differences in MD as a function of relationship status was marginally significant (p = .057), post hoc pairwise comparisons (Tukey HSD and Bonferroni) showed that participants "not in a stable relationship and not dating" reported higher MD (M = 54.30, SD = 29.78) than participants "in a stable relationship (married or unmarried)" (M = 47.99, SD = 27.09) (p = .022).

Sense of belonging scores were consistent across most demographic categories (Table 6). However, significant differences were observed based on relationship status (F(3, 213) = 3.74, p = .012) and educational levels (F(7, 209) = 2.069, p = .048). Participants in a stable relationship reported a higher sense of belonging (M = 41.02, SD = 10.93) compared to other groups, and individuals with higher educational levels also reported higher perceived belonging.

Need to belong scores were also consistent across most demographic categories. However, significant differences were observed across levels of education (F(7,209) = 2.193, p = .036) and occupation (F(5,211) = 2.282, p = .048), although subsequent post hoc pairwise comparisons using Tukey HSD and Bonferroni methods revealed no significant differences between specific groups within each category (Table 6). Notably, individuals with a Doctorate degree reported a higher need to belong (M = 46.67, SD = 1.53) compared to those with other educational backgrounds. Similarly, disabled individuals showed a slightly higher mean need to belong (M = 41.83, SD = 4.11) compared to other occupational groups.

Model	F	<i>df</i> (model)	<i>df</i> (residual)	р	$\eta_p^2$
Maladaptive daydreaming					
Age	1.088	5	211	.368	.025
Region	.317	7	209	.946	.010
Education	.441	7	209	.876	.015
Ethnicity	.995	7	209	.458	.031
Gender	.353	3	213	.787	.005
Occupation	.629	5	211	.677	.015
Relationship status	2.551	3	213	.057	.035
Sense of belonging					
Age	.794	5	211	.555	.018
Region	.282	7	209	.961	.009
Education	2.069	7	209	.048	.065
Ethnicity	.910	7	209	.500	.030
Gender	0.994	3	213	.397	.014
Occupation	.468	5	211	.800	.011
Relationship status	3.746	3	213	.012	.050
Need to belong					
Age	1.572	5	211	.169	.036
Region	.926	7	209	.487	.030
Education	2.193	7	209	.036	.068
Ethnicity	.840	7	209	.556	.027
Gender	1.313	3	213	.271	.018
Occupation	2.282	5	211	.048	.051
Relationship status	1.435	3	213	.234	.020

Table 6. ANOVA Results for Main Variables Across Demographic Categories.

## Chapter IV.

### Discussion

This study investigated the relationship between maladaptive daydreaming (MD) and belongingness. This exploration was motivated by the premise that MD, marked by immersive and extensive daydreaming, might function as a compensatory mechanism addressing unmet social needs. The primary objective of this research was to examine the potential association between MD and two aspects of belongingness: the sense of belonging, which is defined as "the experience of personal involvement in a system or environment so that persons feel themselves to be an integral part of that system or environment" (Hagerty et al., 1992, p. 173). This aspect reflects an individual's personal perception of being valued, appreciated, and accepted by others, as well as their sense of integration within social circles. The study also considered the antecedents of this sense of belonging, which pertain to an individual's desire and motivation to establish strong social connections and engage meaningfully with their environment, in other words, the strength of their need to belong.

Two hypotheses were formulated: The first postulated that individuals with MD would exhibit a lower sense of belonging, as daydreaming is believed to serve as a replacement for absent real-life connections (Somer, 2002). The second hypothesis posited that those with MD would display a higher need to belong, as intense daydreaming has been associated with a stronger need for acceptance and social recognition (Somer et al., 2016c) and desire to form deep social bonds (Bigelsen et al.,

2016). Additionally, this study explored potential interactions between these two dimensions of belongingness.

Maladaptive Daydreaming and Sense of Belonging

The findings of this study align well with the reviewed literature, which suggests that MD may emerge as a compensatory mechanism for individuals grappling with unmet emotional and social needs (Bigelsen et al., 2016; Greene et al., 2020; Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2018).

The concept of belongingness, as articulated by Hagerty and colleagues (1992) and Baumeister and Leary (1995), underscores its fundamental importance to human psychology and provides a novel backdrop for understanding the dynamics observed in MD. The results of the current study are consistent with the thinking that MD may be a compensatory mechanism to address unmet social connections and reduced feelings of integration and acceptance rather than mere escapism. The negative correlation found between MD and sense of belonging, indicating that individuals with higher levels of MD experience lower sense of belonging and vice versa, is consistent with this proposal. Although these results do not imply a causal link, one possible interpretation is that a lower sense of belonging may be driving the intensity of daydreaming. Alternate interpretations include difficulties with emotion regulation (Thomson & Jaque, 2023b), dissociative disorders (Soffer-Dudek & Somer, 2021), pathological personality traits (Brenner et al., 2022) and impulse-control or obsessive-compulsion spectrum disorders (Somer, 2018), however, these factors may also, in some cases, reflect underlying issues with belongingness. Conversely, MD may follow a positive reinforcement pathway, becoming a behavioral addiction without prior significant emotional impairment or a

deficient sense of belonging, as suggested by Soffer-Dudek and Somer (2021). However, it seems that regardless of what initially drives excessive daydreaming, the isolation necessary for these complex mental narratives might lead to further withdrawal and social anxiety (Bigelsen & Schupak, 2011), potentially resulting in social impairment and a reduced sense of belonging. If this is accurate, it may be that the more individuals indulge in daydreaming, the less connection and involvement they perceive in their social surroundings, possibly leading to a vicious cycle where a lack of belongingness motivates seeking solace in imaginary scenarios. This relationship further highlights the psychological complexity of MD; it suggests that while other factors undoubtedly play a role in MD, the sense of belonging is a considerable contributor.

The extensive use of fantasy in MD, as described by Bigelsen and colleagues (2016), often involves themes of social connection and approval, with a frequent focus on accomplishments and recognition, underlining an aspirational longing for social validation and connectedness. This is consistent with the findings of Brenner and colleagues (2022), who observed that maladaptive daydreamers exhibit separation insecurity and crave intimacy and approval. Furthermore, the results of this study revealed differences in MD severity based on relationship status showing that individuals not in a stable relationship and not dating reported higher MD compared to those in stable relationships. This suggests that the presence or absence of a stable romantic relationship may impact the intensity of MD, further empathizing its role as a substitute for real-life social interactions. Research has consistently shown that stable romantic partnerships are essential in fulfilling social and emotional needs, contributing significantly to one's sense of identity and life satisfaction (Finkel et al., 2014). Conversely, the absence of such

relationships has been associated with increased feelings of loneliness, social isolation, and self-harm, severely diminishing one's sense of belonging (McClelland et al., 2023). Higher engagement with daydreaming among singles may serve as an attempt to compensate for the lack of real-life romantic or intimate connections, positioning MD as a psychological coping mechanism for individuals experiencing a deficit in fulfilling personal relationships. The current study's findings, therefore, suggest that MD can act as a substitute for real-life social interactions, consistent with the existing research. As that literature suggests, MD may reflect a deeper psychological dynamic where individuals turn to their inner world for the sense of connection and recognition they lack in the real world.

## Maladaptive Daydreaming and Need to Belong

The study failed to find a significant correlation between MD and the antecedents of sense of belonging (need to belong), thus not confirming the second hypothesis. The nonsignificant correlation between SOBI-A and MD scores suggests that the antecedents to sense of belonging, which can be seen as an individual's need to belong, might not directly relate to the frequency or intensity of MD in a straightforward or linear manner. This could imply that while the current sense of belonging is negatively affected by MD, the foundational elements that typically contribute to one's sense of belonging might not be as closely linked to MD, or that the relationship is more complex and not captured by a simple linear correlation.

The concept of antecedents of sense of belonging, as developed by Patusky and Hagerty (1992) and operationalized in the SOBI-A instrument, focuses on identifying and measuring the precursors or antecedents that facilitate or hinder the development of a

sense of belonging. The SOBI-A assessment specifically aims to quantify these antecedents, reflecting how much individuals feel they possess the necessary conditions or factors leading to a sense of belonging. Antecedents include energy for involvement, the desire for meaningful involvement, and the potential for shared or complementary characteristics, which are seen as necessary preconditions for a sense of belonging. Thus, the SOBI-A assesses potential and readiness for belonging, reflecting a proactive stance toward achieving belonging. A high need to belong, as measured by the SOBI-A, reflects an individual's willingness to invest in building and strengthening social bonds and actively participating in their environment.

One possibility that could explain this study's result is that maladaptive daydreamers exhibit a different need to belong, manifested as an intense, albeit passive desire for connection and thus not accurately captured by the SOBI-A. Another hypothesis is that the specific questions on the SOBI-A questionnaire such as "I want to be a part of things going on around me", "Fitting in with people around me matters a great deal", and "Generally, other people recognize my strengths and good points" aimed to assess the respondent's desire and willingness to form social bonds, may elicit learned helplessness instead in maladaptive daydreamers, resulting in answers that do not reflect some of the respondent's true desires or motivation for belonging.

Learned helplessness, a phenomenon where individuals feel powerless to change their situation after repeated exposure to uncontrollable events (Seligman, 1972), may manifest in maladaptive daydreamers that have experienced social exclusion and adversity in the past and have, consequently, become fearful and unwilling to form new social bonds. This psychological state, often resulting from continuous failure to achieve

desired social connections or successful outcomes in life's endeavors, may lead individuals to defensively diminish their apparent need for social interaction (e.g., disagreeing with statements such as "I am working on fitting in better with those around me" and "fitting in with people around me matters a great deal" and agreeing with statements such as "relationships take too much energy for me" and "I just don't feel like getting involved with people"). Such a defense mechanism, while providing temporary relief from social anxiety or disappointment, may inadvertently hinder the development of meaningful relationships and perpetuate feelings of isolation (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010). By engaging in MD, these individuals may find solace in a controlled environment where the outcomes of social efforts are always positive, effectively circumventing realworld social challenges. This mechanism may serve as emotional self-preservation, allowing them to avoid the pain and disappointment associated with unmet social needs. Learned helplessness in this context may be acting as a barrier to acknowledging the deep-seated desire for social inclusion and acceptance, potentially confounding the scores of the SOBI-A assessment. Wilczyńska and colleagues (2015) mentioned that individuals who have experienced social exclusion or rejection may exhibit emotional blunting as a psychological response to avoid further emotional suffering. Therefore, the lack of correlation between SOBI-A scores and MD might not have fully captured the complexities of individuals' social needs and their coping mechanisms in this sample. In other words, participants exhibiting MD in this study may have given up on belonging, proactively choosing to form emotional bonds with imaginary companions rather than seek real-life relationships. Their answers may reflect their lack of energy and willingness to seek and form new social relationships. More research is necessary to

determine the relationship between learned helplessness and MD in the context of belongingness.

Although not directly assessing the relationship between MD and need to belong, Zsila and colleagues (2019) investigated the association between celebrity worship and various psychological constructs, including the need to belong and MD, using the Need to Belong Scale (Leary et al., 1995). Although their study did not directly assess the relationship between MD and the need to belong, they explored how these factors relate to celebrity worship. They found no significant direct association between the need to belong and celebrity worship in their path analysis. This outcome suggests that while individuals with psychological vulnerabilities, such as those prone to MD, may have an intensified need for social connections, they might not fulfill this need through traditional relationships. Instead, these individuals may gravitate towards parasocial interactions with celebrities (parasocial relationships) as an alternative means of experiencing a sense of belonging. Their results suggest that standard measures of social needs, such as the Need to Belong Scale or the SOBI-A, might not fully capture the distinct ways individuals with MD seek connection, potentially explaining the observed results in this study.

#### Need to Belong and Sense of Belonging

This study identified a significant positive correlation between the Sense of Belonging Instrument's antecedents (SOBI-A) and perceived sense of belonging (SOBI-P) scores. The SOBI-A measures the precursors or antecedents necessary for a sense of belonging, such as the desire for and potential of meaningful involvement and shared characteristics with a group, effectively measuring how much an individual feels a "need

to belong". Higher scores on the SOBI-A suggest a stronger presence of these antecedents, implying that individuals perceive themselves as having more qualities, desires, and opportunities that facilitate belonging. In this sense, a higher need to belong translates into a stronger motivation to seek social connection, form intimate bonds with others and participate in social activities. Respectively, the SOBI-P questionnaire assesses the respondent's actual experienced sense of belonging, with higher scores indicating a greater perceived integration and acceptance within their social environment. A strong sense of belonging reflects satisfaction with one's position in social groups, acceptance by others, and a feeling of fitting in with one's environment.

The observed positive correlation suggests that as the antecedents for belonging (need to belong) become more pronounced—indicating a greater motivation and desire to connect with others and "fit in"—the perceived sense of belonging increases. This relationship aligns with theoretical expectations, indicating that individuals who possess or recognize more factors conducive to belonging tend to report a stronger sense of belonging. Thus, when individuals perceive themselves as having the energy for involvement, the desire for meaningful connections, and the potential for shared experiences, they are likely to feel more integrated and accepted within their groups. This positive association is consistent with the literature evaluating the validity of the SOBI Instrument, as well as with other studies that have used it as an assessment tool.

This result may offer insights to explain the observed lack of correlation between MD and the need to belong. Given that maladaptive daydreamers often exhibit a low sense of belonging, it would be contradictory for them to demonstrate a high need to belong as assessed by the SOBI-A. These individuals appear to lack both the energy for

involvement and the willingness to engage in shared experiences, attributes that are assessed by the SOBI-A. Nonetheless, they may still harbor a desire for meaningful connections, suggesting the possibility of a non-linear relationship between these constructs that the study failed to capture.

#### **Implications and Future Directions**

These findings have important implications for the understanding and development of therapeutic approaches that address the unique needs and experiences of individuals with MD. Recognizing MD as a response to unmet social and emotional needs can better inform clinical practice. Interventions might focus not only on reducing the frequency and intensity of daydreaming but also on enhancing social skills and addressing underlying issues such as social anxiety, depression, and trauma that may be hindering the individual's ability to proactively seek and develop social bonds in real life.

This study has several limitations that should be acknowledged. The crosssectional design of the study and correlational analyses limit the ability to establish causality between MD and aspects of belongingness. The use of self-report measures might have introduced biases, potentially impacting data accuracy. Furthermore, the recruitment strategy, focusing on forums and groups related to MD and mental health issues, could have attracted a sample more conscious of their psychological conditions, affecting the generalizability. Although this study included a diverse sample from multiple countries, most participants were from English-speaking countries. Also, the study was overrepresented by participants identifying as female.

Future research should more directly examine potential causal relations between MD and belongingness. Longitudinal studies could provide a more definitive

understanding of the dynamic interplay between these constructs. Exploring gender differences in MD more thoroughly could also yield insightful results, given the predominance of female participants in the current study. Moreover, the role of parasocial relationships in MD warrants further exploration to understand how these imaginary interactions fulfill the sense of belonging in individuals with MD. Additionally, examining maladaptive daydreamers' preference for solitude and fantasy, and the potential impact of learned helplessness on the lack of correlation between MD and the need to belong, could provide novel insights into the long-term impact of MD on social functioning.

Building upon the existing foundation of knowledge regarding the neural correlates of mind-wandering and daydreaming such as the default mode network (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2014), future research could greatly benefit from a more targeted exploration of MD through neuroimaging studies. Understanding whether and how the activity of the default mode network differs in MD could shed light on the neural mechanisms driving this condition and guide the development of effective interventions and support mechanisms for individuals experiencing MD. Additionally, by correlating activity in the default mode network with measures of belongingness, researchers could explore how variations in the sense of belonging and the need to belong might relate to MD from a neurological perspective. This approach could potentially reveal how this brain region contributes not only to daydreaming but also to the individual's experience of social connectedness and emotional fulfillment.

# Appendix 1.

The Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS-16)

1. Some people notice that certain music can trigger their daydreaming. To what extent does music activate your daydreaming?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	equent

2. Some people feel a need to continue a daydream that was interrupted by a real world event at a later point. When a real world event has interrupted one of your daydreams, how strong was your need or urge to return to that daydream as soon as possible?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	mely fr	equent

3. How often are your current daydreams accompanied by vocal noises or facial expressions (e.g. laughing, talking or mouthing the words)?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	equent

4. If you go through a period of time when you are not able to daydream as much as usual due to real world obligations, how distressed are you by your inability to find time to daydream?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	requent

5. Some people have the experience of their daydreaming interfering with their daily chores or tasks. How much does your daydreaming interfere with your ability to get basic chores accomplished?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	requent

6. Some people feel distressed or concerned about the amount of time they spend daydreaming. How distressed do you currently feel about the amount of time you spend daydreaming?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100 % Never Extremely frequent

7. When you know you have had something important or challenging to pay attention to or finish, how difficult was it for you to stay on task and complete the goal without daydreaming?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100 % Never Extremely frequent

8. Some people have the experience of their daydreaming hindering the things that are most important to them. How much do you feel that your daydreaming activities interfere with achieving your overall life goals?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100 % Never Extremely frequent

9. Some people experience difficulties in controlling or limiting their daydreaming. How difficult has it been for you to keep your daydreaming under control?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	equent

10. Some people feel annoyed when a real world event interrupts one of their daydreams. When the real world interrupts one of your daydreams, on average how annoyed do you feel?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	equent

11. Some people have the experience of their daydreaming interfering with their academic/occupational success or personal achievements. How much does your daydreaming interfere with your academic/occupational success?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100 % Never

12. Some people would rather daydream than do most other things. To what extent would you rather daydream than engage with other people or participate in social activities or hobbies?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100 % Never Extremely frequent

13. When you first wake up in the morning, how strong has your urge been to immediately start daydreaming?

0% 10% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100 20% % Never

Extremely frequent

14. How often are your current daydreams accompanied by physical activity such as pacing, swinging or shaking your hands?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extre	emely fr	requent

15. Some people love to daydream. While you are daydreaming, to what extent do you find it comforting and/or enjoyable?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never							Extremely frequent			

16. Some people find it hard to maintain their daydreaming when they are not listening to music. To what extent is your daydreaming dependent on continued listening to music?

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100
										%
Never								Extremely free		
## Appendix 2.

## The Sense of Belonging Instrument (SOBI)

## The Sense of Belonging Instrument – Psychological Experience (SOBI-P)

	Strongly			Strongly
	Agree	Agree	Disagree	Disagree
1. I often wonder if there is anyplace on earth where I really fit in.	1	2	3	4
2. I am just not sure if I fit in with my friends.	1	2	3	4
3. I would describe myself as a misfit in most social situations.	1	2	3	4
4. I generally feel that people accept me.	1	2	3	4
5. I feel like a piece of a jig-saw puzzle that doesn't fit into the puzzle.	1	2	3	4
6. I would like to make a difference to people or things around me, but I do not feel that what I have to offer is valued.	1	2	3	4
7. I feel like an outsider in most situations.	1	2	3	4
8. I am troubled by feeling like I have no place in this world.	1	2	3	4
9. I could disappear for days and it wouldn't matter to my family.	1	2	3	4
10. In general, I do not feel a part of the mainstream of society.	1	2	3	4

11. I feel like I observe life rather than participate in it.	1	2	3	4
12. If I died tomorrow, very few people would come to my funeral.	1	2	3	4
13. I feel like a square peg trying to fit into a round hole.	1	2	3	4
14. I do not feel that there is anyplace where I really fit in this world.	1	2	3	4
15. I am uncomfortable that my background and experiences are so different from those who are usually around me.	1	2	3	4
16. I could not see or call my friends for days and it wouldn't matter to them.	1	2	3	4
17. I feel left out of things.	1	2	3	4
18. I am not valued by or important to my friends.	1	2	3	4

	Strongly			Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Agree
1. It is important to me that I am valued or accepted by others.	1	2	3	4
2. In the past, I have felt valued and important to others.	1	2	3	4
3. It is important to me that I fit somewhere in this world.	1	2	3	4
4. I have qualities that can be important to others.	1	2	3	4
5. I am working on fitting in better with those around me.	1	2	3	4
6. I want to be a part of things going on around me.	1	2	3	4
7. It is important to me that my thoughts and opinions are valued.	1	2	3	4
8. Generally, other people recognize my strengths and good points.	1	2	3	4
9. I can make myself fit in anywhere.	1	2	3	4
10. All of my life, I have wanted to feel like I really belonged somewhere.	1	2	3	4
11. Fitting in with people around me matters a great deal.	1	2	3	4
12. I feel badly if others do not value or accept me.	1	2	3	4
13. Relationships take too much energy for me.	1	2	3	4
14. I just do not feel like getting involved with people.	1	2	3	4

# The Sense of Belonging Instrument – Antecedents (SOBI-A)

#### References

- Abu-Rayya, H. M., Somer, E., & Knane, H. (2020). Maladaptive daydreaming is associated with intensified psychosocial problems experienced by female survivors of childhood sexual abuse. *Violence Against Women*, 26(8), 825–837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801219845532</u>
- Adams, S. M. (2021). "Influencing" the legislature: The need for legislation targeting online sexual harassment of social media influencers. Washington University Law Review, 99(2), 695.
- Anant, S.S. (1966). The need to belong. Canada's Mental Health, 14, 21-27.
- Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Smallwood, J., & Spreng, R. N. (2014). The default network and self-generated thought: Component processes, dynamic control, and clinical relevance. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1316(1), 29–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12360</u>
- Arditte, K. A., Morabito, D. M., Shaw, A. M., & Timpano, K. R. (2016). Interpersonal risk for suicide in social anxiety: The roles of shame and depression. *Psychiatry Research*, 239, 139–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.03.017
- Aw, E., & Labrecque, L. I. (2020). Celebrity endorsement in social media contexts: Understanding the role of parasocial interactions and the need to belong. *The Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 37(7), 895–908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JCM-10-2019-3474</u>
- Baars, B. J. (2010). Spontaneous repetitive thoughts can be adaptive: Postscript on "mind wandering". *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(2), 208. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018726
- Bacon, A. M., & Charlesford, J. J. (2018). Investigating the association between fantasy proneness and emotional distress: The mediating role of cognitive coping strategies. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 135, 157–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.07.003</u>
- Baird, B., Smallwood, J., & Schooler, J. W. (2011). Back to the future: Autobiographical planning and the functionality of mind-wandering. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 20(4), 1604–1611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2011.08.007</u>
- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *117*(3), 497–529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497</u>

- Baumeister, R. F., & Robson, D. A. (2021). Belongingness and the modern schoolchild: On loneliness, socioemotional health, self-esteem, evolutionary mismatch, online sociality, and the numbress of rejection. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 73(1), 103–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00049530.2021.1877573</u>
- Belviso, F. (2020). Jungian Reflections on Grandiosity (1st ed.). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429058554</u>
- Bigelsen, J., & Schupak, C. (2011). Compulsive fantasy: Proposed evidence of an underreported syndrome through a systematic study of 90 self-identified non-normative fantasizers. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 20(4), 1634-1648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2011.08.013</u>
- Bigelsen, J., Lehrfeld, J. M., Jopp, D. S., & Somer, E. (2016). Maladaptive daydreaming: Evidence for an under-researched mental health disorder. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 42, 254-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2016.03.017</u>
- Bregman-Hai, N., Abitbul-Gordon, S., Deutsch, I., Garbi, D., Shelef, L., & Soffer-Dudek, N. (2018). Leave everything to the imagination: Cognitive functioning of individuals high in dissociative absorption and imaginative involvement. *Journal* of Research in Personality, 76, 129–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2018.08.004</u>
- Brenner, R., Somer, E., & Abu-Rayya, H. M. (2022). Personality traits and maladaptive daydreaming: Fantasy functions and themes in a multi-country sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 184, 111194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.111194</u>
- Buckner, R. L. & Carroll, D. C. (2007). Self-projection and the brain. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(2), 49-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2006.11.004</u>
- Buss, D. M. (1995). Evolutionary psychology: A new paradigm for psychological science. *Psychological Inquiry*, 6(1), 1-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0601\_1</u>
- Buss, D. M., & Schmitt, D. P. (1993). Sexual strategies theory: An evolutionary perspective on human mating. *Psychological Review*, 100(2), 204-232. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.100.2.204
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Patrick, W. (2008). *Loneliness: Human nature and the need for social connection* (1st ed.). W.W. Norton.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., & Thisted, R. A. (2010). Perceived social isolation makes me sad: 5-year cross-lagged analyses of loneliness and depressive symptomatology in the Chicago Health, Aging, and Social Relations Study. *Psychology and Aging*, 25(2), 453-463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017216</u>

- Cacioppo, S. (2016). What happens in your brain during mental dissociation? A quest towards neural markers of a unified sense of self. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, *3*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40473-016-0063-8
- Caporael, L. R. (1997). The evolution of truly social cognition: The core configurations model. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 1(4), 276-298. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327957pspr0104\_1
- Carlson, E. B., & Putnam, F. W. (1993). An update on the Dissociative Experiences Scale. *Dissociation*, *6*(1), 16–27.
- Carroll, J. (2018). Minds and meaning in fictional narratives: An evolutionary perspective. *Review of General Psychology*, 22(2), 135–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000104</u>
- Chou, T. (2018). Understanding the relationship between default network activation and connectivity, depression, and maladaptive cognition (Publication No. 39947153)
  [Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University]. Digital Access to Scholarship at Harvard.
- Cicchetti, D., & Cohen, D. J. (2006). *Developmental psychopathology* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Cockshaw, W. D., Shochet, I. M., & Obst, P. L. (2013). General belongingness, workplace belongingness, and depressive symptoms. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 23(3), 240–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2121</u>
- Corballis, M. C. (2009). The evolution of language. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1156*(1), 19–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04423.x</u>
- Corballis, M. C. (2013). Wandering tales: Evolutionary origins of mental time travel and language. *Frontiers in psychology*, *4*, 485. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00485
- Corballis, M. C. (2015). *The wandering mind: What the brain does when you're not looking*. The University of Chicago Press.
- Costanzo, A., Santoro, G., Russo, S., Cassara, M. S., Midolo, L. R., Billieux, J., & Schimmenti, A. (2021). Attached to virtual dreams: The mediating role of maladaptive daydreaming in the relationship between attachment styles and problematic social media use. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 209(9), 656–664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000001356</u>
- Cottrell, C. A., & Leary, M. R. (2013). Evolutionary perspectives on interpersonal acceptance and rejection. In *The Oxford Handbook of Social Exclusion*. Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195398700.013.0002</u>

- Davidson, C. L., Wingate, L. R., Grant, D. M., Judah, M. R., & Mills, A. C. (2011). Interpersonal suicide risk and ideation: The influence of depression and social anxiety. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 30(8), 842–855. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2011.30.8.842
- Derrick, J. L., Gabriel, S., & Tippin, B. (2008). Parasocial relationships and selfdiscrepancies: Faux relationships have benefits for low self-esteem individuals. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 25(2), 261-280. <u>https://doi:10.1177/0265407508088839</u>
- Derrick, J. L., Gabriel, S., & Hugenberg, K. (2009). Social surrogacy: How favored television programs provide the experience of belonging. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(2), 352–362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2008.12.003</u>
- Dingle, G. (2018). Addiction and the importance of belonging. *Psychologist*, 31, 36–38.
- Dorsch, F. (2015). Focused daydreaming and mind-wandering. *Review of Philosophy and Psychology*, 6(4), 791-813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13164-014-0221-4</u>
- Dubourg, E., & Baumard, N. (2021). Why imaginary worlds? The Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 1–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X21000923</u>
- Ferrante, E., Marino, A., Guglielmucci, F., & Schimmenti, A. (2022). The mediating role of dissociation and shame in the relationship between emotional trauma and maladaptive daydreaming. *Psychology of Consciousness*, 9(1), 27–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cns0000253</u>
- Field, A. (2018). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics* (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Finkel, E. J., Hui, C. M., Carswell, K. L., & Larson, G. M. (2014). The suffocation of marriage: Climbing mount Maslow without enough oxygen. *Psychological Inquiry*, 25(1), 1–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2014.863723</u>
- Foa, E. B., & Hearst-Ikeda, D. E. (1996). Emotional dissociation in response to trauma: an information-processing approach. In Michelson, L. K. & Ray, W. J. (ed.), *Handbook of dissociation: theoretical, empirical, and clinical perspectives* (p. 207–224).
- Freud, S. (1908, 1962). Creative writers and daydreaming. In Strachey J. (Ed.), *The standard edition of the complete psychological works of Sigmund Freud* (Vol. IX, pp 143–153). Hogarth.
- Gabriel, S., Valenti, J., & Young, A. F. (2016). Social surrogates, social motivations, and everyday activities: The case for a strong, subtle, and sneaky social self. In J. M. Olson & M. P. Zanna (Eds.), *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* (Vol. 53, pp. 189–243). Elsevier Academic Press.

- Gardner, W. L., & Knowles, M. L. (2008). Love makes you real: Favorite television characters are perceived as "real" in a social facilitation paradigm. *Social Cognition*, 26(2), 156-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/soco.2008.26.2.156</u>
- Gilbert, P. (2001). Evolution and social anxiety. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 24(4), 723–751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-953X(05)70260-4</u>
- Greene, T., West, M., & Somer, E. (2020). Maladaptive daydreaming and emotional regulation difficulties: A network analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, 285, 112799. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112799</u>
- Greenwald, D. F., & Harder, D. W. (1995). Sustaining fantasies, daydreams, and psychopathology. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, (6), 719–726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(199511)51:6<719::AID-JCLP2270510602>3.0.CO;2-I</u>
- Gruberger, M., Simon, E. B., Levkovitz, Y., Zangen, A., & Hendler, T. (2011). Towards a neuroscience of mind-wandering. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *5*, 56. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2011.00056</u>
- Hagerty, B. M. K., Lynch-Sauer, J., Patusky, K. L., Bouwsema, M., & Collier, P. (1992). Sense of belonging: A vital mental health concept. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 6(3), 172–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-9417(92)90028-H</u>
- Hagerty, B.M. K., & Patusky, K. (1995). Developing a measure of sense of belonging. *Nursing Research*, 44(1), 9-13.
- Harlow, H. F. (1958). The nature of love. *The American Psychologist*, *13*(12), 673–685. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0047884
- Hogan, P. C. (2003). *The mind and its stories: Narrative universals and human emotion*. Cambridge University Press.
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social relationships and mortality risk: a-<u>A</u> meta-analytic review. *PLoS Medicine*, 7(7), e1000316. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316
- Horton, D., & Wohl, R. (1956). Mass communication and parasocial interaction: Observation on intimacy at a distance. *Psychiatry*, *19*, 215–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.1956.11023049
- Horvath-Labancz, E., Sandor, A., Balazs, K., Molnar, J., & Szabo, I. K. (2022).
  Pathological personality traits of maladaptive daydreamers measured by the Personality Inventory for DSM-5 in a psychiatric sample. *Clinical Psychology* and Psychotherapy. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2820

- Khantzian, E. (1997). The self-medication hypothesis of substance use disorders: A reconsideration and recent applications. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 4(5), 231– 244. https://doi.org/10.3109/10673229709030550
- Killingsworth, M. A., & Gilbert, D. T. (2010). A wandering mind is an unhappy mind. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science), 330(6006), 932. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1192439
- Klinger, E. (1971). Structure and functions of fantasy. Wiley-Interscience.
- Kucyi, A., & Davis, K. D. (2014). Dynamic functional connectivity of the default mode network tracks daydreaming. *NeuroImage*, 100, 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.06.044
- Leary, M. R. (2012). Sociometer theory and the pursuit of relational value: Getting to the root of self-esteem. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 42(5), 573-587. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463280540000007
- Leary, M. R., & Baumeister, R. F. (2000). The nature and function of self-esteem: Sociometer theory. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, *32*, 1-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(00)80003-9</u>
- Leary, M. R., Kelly, K. M., Cottrell, C. A., & Schreindorfer, L. S. (2013). Construct validity of the need to belong scale: Mapping the nomological network. *Journal* of Personality Assessment, 95(6), 610–624. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2013.819511
- Levi-Belz, Y., & Feigelman, W. (2022). Pulling together the protective role of belongingness for depression, suicidal ideation and behavior among suicidebereaved individuals. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, 43(4), 278–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000784</u>
- Mar, R. A., & Oatley, K. (2008). The function of fiction is the abstraction and simulation of social experience. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 3, 173–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00073.x</u>
- Mar, R. A., Oatley, K., Hirsh, J., dela Paz, J., & Peterson, J. B. (2006). Bookworms versus nerds: Exposure to fiction versus non-fiction, divergent associations with social ability, and the simulation of fictional social worlds. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 40(5), 694–712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2005.08.002</u>
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review*, 50(4), 370–396.
- McClelland, H., Evans, J. J., & O'Connor, R. C. (2023). The association of family, social and romantic loneliness in relation to suicidal ideation and self-injurious behaviours. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 158, 330–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.12.022</u>

- McMillan, R. L., Kaufman, S. B., & Singer, J. L. (2013). Ode to positive constructive daydreaming. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 626–626. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00626
- Mooneyham, B. W., & Schooler, J. W. (2013). The costs and benefits of mindwandering: A Review. *Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 67(1), 11– 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031569</u>
- Nadkarnia, A., & Hofmann, S. G. (2012). Why do people use Facebook? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 52, 243–249.
- Neuner, F. (2023). Physical and social trauma: Towards an integrative transdiagnostic perspective on psychological trauma that involves threats to status and belonging. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *99*, 102219–102219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2022.102219
- Person, E. S., Fonagy, P., Figueira, S. A., Freud, S., & International Psycho-Analytical Association. (1995). On Freud's "Creative writers and day-dreaming". Yale University Press.
- Pietkiewicz, I. J., Nęcki, S., Bańbura, A., & Tomalski, R. (2018). Maladaptive daydreaming as a new form of behavioral addiction. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(3), 838–843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.7.2018.95</u>
- Pimienta, J. (2023). Towards an integrated and systematic theory of parasocial relationships: PSR as an attachment process. *Communication Research Trends*, 42(1), 4–20.
- Poerio, G. L., & Smallwood, J. (2016). Daydreaming to navigate the social world: What we know, what we do not know, and why it matters. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *10*(11), 605–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12288</u>
- Raichle, M. E., MacLeod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., & Shulman, G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(2), 676-682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.98.2.676</u>
- Rauschenberger, S. L., & Lynn, S. J. (1995). Fantasy proneness, DSM-III-R Axis I Psychopathology, and dissociation. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* (1965), 104(2), 373–380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.104.2.373</u>
- Rhue, J., & Lynn, S. (1987). Fantasy proneness and psychopathology. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(2), 327–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.2.327</u>
- Ross, C. A., Ridgway, J., & George, N. (2020). Maladaptive daydreaming, dissociation, and the dissociative disorders. *Psychiatric Research and Clinical Practice*, 2(2), 53–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.prcp.20190050</u>

- Ruby, F. J. M., Smallwood, J., Engen, H., & Singer, T. (2013). How self-generated thought shapes mood: The relation between mind-wandering and mood depends on the socio-temporal content of thoughts. *PloS One*, 8(10), e77554–e77554. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077554
- Sándor, A., Bugán, A., Nagy, A., Bogdán, L. S., & Molnár, J. (2021). Attachment characteristics and emotion regulation difficulties among maladaptive and normal daydreamers. *Current Psychology*, 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01546-5</u>
- Schimmenti, A. (2018). The trauma factor: Examining the relationships among different types of trauma, dissociation, and psychopathology. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 19(5), 552–571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2017.1402400</u>
- Schimmenti, A., & Caretti, V. (2016). Linking the overwhelming with the unbearable: Developmental trauma, dissociation, and the disconnected self. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 33, 106–128. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038019</u>
- Schimmenti, A., & Caretti, V. (2019). Linking the maladaptive daydreaming phenomenon with childhood trauma and dissociation: Evidence from a nonclinical sample. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 20(1), 93-107.
- Schimmenti, A., Sideli, L., La Marca, L., Gori, A., & Terrone, G. (2020). Reliability, validity, and factor structure of the Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS-16) in an Italian sample. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 102(5), 689–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2019.1594240</u>
- Schimmenti, A., Somer, E., & Regis, M. (2019). Maladaptive daydreaming: Towards a nosological definition. Annales Médico Psychologiques, 177(9), 865–874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amp.2019.08.014</u>
- Schupak, C., & Rosenthal, J. (2009). Excessive daydreaming: A case history and discussion of mind wandering and high fantasy proneness. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 18(1), 290-292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2008.10.002</u>
- Schooler, J. W., Smallwood, J., Christoff, K., Handy, T. C., Reichle, E. D., & Sayette, M. A. (2011). Meta-awareness, perceptual decoupling and the wandering mind. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15(7), 319–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.05.006
- Seligman, M. E. P. (1972). Learned helplessness. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 23(1), 407–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.me.23.020172.002203</u>
- Singer, J. L. (1974). Daydreaming and the stream of thought: daydreams have usually been associated with idleness and inattentiveness. Now, however, through an empirical research program, their general function and adaptive possibilities are being elucidated. *American Scientist*, 62(4), 417–425.

Singer, J. L. (1975). The inner world of daydreaming. Harper & Row.

- Singer, J. L., & McCraven, V. G. (1961). Some characteristics of adult daydreaming. The Journal of Psychology, 51(1), 151–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1961.9916467</u>
- Slavich, G. M., & Irwin, M. R. (2014). From stress to inflammation and major depressive disorder: A social signal transduction theory of depression. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140(3), 774-815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035302</u>
- Smallwood, J., & Andrews-Hanna, J. (2013). Not all minds that wander are lost: The importance of a balanced perspective on the mind-wandering state. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 4, 441–441. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00441</u>
- Smallwood, J., & Schooler, J. W. (2015). The science of mind wandering: Empirically navigating the stream of consciousness. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 487-518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015331</u>
- Soffer-Dudek, N., & Somer, E. (2021). Maladaptive daydreaming is a dissociative disorder: Supporting evidence and theory. In *Dissociation and the Dissociative Disorders: Past, Present, Future* (2nd ed.), Dorahy, M. J., & Gold, S. N. (Eds.). Publisher: Routledge.
- Soffer-Dudek, N., & Somer, E. (2018). Trapped in a daydream: Daily elevations in maladaptive daydreaming are associated with daily psychopathological symptoms. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9, 194. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00194
- Somer, E., & Herscu, O. (2017). Childhood trauma, social anxiety, absorption and fantasy dependence: Two potential mediated pathways to maladaptive daydreaming. *Journal of Addictive Behaviors, Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.4172/2324-9005.1000170
- Somer, E. (2002). Maladaptive daydreaming: A qualitative inquiry. Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy, 32(2), 197-212. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020597026919
- Somer, E. (2018). Maladaptive daydreaming: Ontological analysis, treatment rationale; a pilot case report. *Frontiers in the Psychotherapy of Trauma and Dissociation*, *1*(2), 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.XXXX/ftpd.2017.0006</u>
- Somer, E., Abu-Rayya, H. M., & Brenner, R. (2021). Childhood trauma and maladaptive daydreaming: Fantasy functions and themes in a multi-country sample. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 22(3), 288–303. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2020.1809599

- Somer, E., Lehrfeld, J., Bigelsen, J., & Jopp, D. S. (2016a). Development and validation of the Maladaptive Daydreaming Scale (MDS). *Consciousness and Cognition*, 39, 77-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2015.12.001</u>
- Somer, E., Soffer-Dudek, N., & Ross, C. A. (2017a). The comorbidity of daydreaming disorder (maladaptive daydreaming). *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 205(7), 525–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000685</u>
- Somer, E., Soffer-Dudek, N., Ross, C. A., & Halpern, N. (2017b). Maladaptive daydreaming: Proposed diagnostic criteria and their assessment with a structured clinical interview. *Psychology of Consciousness*, 4(2), 176–189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cns0000114</u>
- Somer, E., Somer, L., & Jopp, D. S. (2016b). Childhood antecedents and maintaining factors in maladaptive daydreaming. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 204(6), 471-478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000507</u>
- Somer, E., Somer, L., & Jopp, D. S. (2016c). Parallel lives: A phenomenological study of the lived experience of maladaptive daydreaming. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 17(5), 561–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2016.1160463</u>
- Somerville, L. H., Kelley, W. M., & Heatherton, T. F. (2013). Self-esteem modulates medial prefrontal cortical responses to evaluative social feedback. *Cerebral Cortex*, 23(7), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq049</u>
- Suddendorf, T., & Corballis, M. C. (2007). The evolution of foresight: What is mental time travel, and is it unique to humans? *The Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 30(3), 299–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X07001975</u>
- Theodor-Katz, N., Somer, E., Hesseg, R. M., & Soffer-Dudek, N. (2022). Could immersive daydreaming underlie a deficit in attention? The prevalence and characteristics of maladaptive daydreaming in individuals with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 78(11), 2309– 2328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.23355</u>
- Thomson, P., & Jaque, S. V. (2023a). Creativity, emotion regulation, and maladaptive daydreaming. *Creativity Research Journal*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2023.2230022
- Thomson, P., & Jaque, V. (2023b). Maladaptive daydreaming, overexcitability, and emotion regulation. *Roeper Review*, 45(3), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2023.2212634
- Tukachinsky, R. (2021). Parasocial romantic relationships: Falling in love with media figures. Lexington Books.

- Tukachinsky, R. H. (2011). Para-romantic love and para-friendships: Development and assessment of a multiple-parasocial relationships scale. *American Journal of Media Psychology*, 3(1/2), 73-94.
- Twenge, J. M., Catanese, K. R., & Baumeister, R. F. (2003). Social exclusion causes selfdefeating behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(3), 390-402. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.83.3.606
- Uchino, B. N., Bowen, K., Carlisle, M., & Birmingham, W. (2012). Psychological pathways linking social support to health outcomes: A visit with the "ghosts" of research past, present, and future. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(7), 949–957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.023</u>
- Wilczyńska, A., Januszek, M., & Bargiel-Matusiewicz, K. (2015). The need of belonging and sense of belonging versus effectiveness of coping. *Polish Psychological Bulletin*, 46(1), 72–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ppb-2015-0008</u>
- Wilson, S. C., & Barber, T. X. (1982). The fantasy-prone personality: Implications for understanding imagery, hypnosis, and parapsychological phenomena. *Psi Research*, 1(3), 94-116.
- Wilson, S., Dempsey, C., Farnham, F., Manze, T., & Taylor, A. (2018). Stalking risks to celebrities and public figures. *BJPsych Advances*, 24(3), 152–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bja.2017.22</u>
- Winnicott, D. W. (1953). Transitional objects and transitional phenomena—A study of the first not-me possession. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 34(2), 89– 97.
- Winnicott, D. W. (1971). Playing and reality. Basic Books.
- Witkin, M. (2019). Maladaptive daydreaming: Is it a "real thing"? *The Brown University Child and Adolescent Behavior Letter*, 35(2), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbl.30353</u>
- Wykes, M. (2007). Constructing crime: Culture, stalking, celebrity and cyber. *Crime, Media, Culture, 3*(2), 158–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1741659007078541</u>
- Zsila, A., Urbán, R., McCutcheon, L. E., & Demetrovics, Z. (2019). A path analytic review of the association between psychiatric symptoms and celebrity worship: The mediating role of maladaptive daydreaming and desire for fame. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 151, 109511.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109511">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109511</a>